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CHARACTER IST ICS OF THE GROWTH 
ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE 
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG 
LIMITED (THE “EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to 
accommodate companies to which a higher investment 
risk may be attached than other companies listed on 
the Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware 
of the potential risks of investing in such companies 
and should make the decision to invest only after due 
and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and 
other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market 
more suited to professional and other sophisticated 
investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on 
GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM 
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than 
securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance 
is given that there will be a liquid market in the 
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the 
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of 
this report, make no representation as to its accuracy 
or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability 
whatsoever for any loss however arising from or in 
reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this 
report.

This report, for which the directors of Crosby Capital 
L im i ted co l lec t i ve l y  and ind iv idua l l y  accept  fu l l 
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance 
with the GEM Listing Rules for the purpose of giving 
information with regard to Crosby Capital Limited. The 
directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm 
that, to the best of their knowledge and belief (i) the 
information contained in this report is accurate and 
complete in all material respects and not misleading or 
deceptive; and (ii) there are no other matters the omission 
of which would make any statement in this report 
misleading.

香港聯合交易所有限公司（「聯交所」）
創業板市場（「創業板」）之特色

創業板之定位，乃為相比起其他在聯交所上市之公司帶有較
高投資風險之公司提供一個上市之市場。有意投資之人士應
瞭解投資於該等公司之潛在風險，並應經過審慎周詳之考慮
後方作出投資決定。創業板之較高風險及其他特色，表示創
業板較適合專業及其他資深投資者。

由於創業板上市之公司屬新興性質，在創業板買賣之證券可
能會較在主板買賣之證券承受較大之市場波動風險，同時無
法保證在創業板買賣之證券會有高流通量之市場。

香港交易及結算所有限公司以及聯交所對本報告之內容概不

負責，對其準確性或完整性亦不發表任何聲明，並明確表示

概不會就本報告全部或任何部分內容而產生或因倚賴該等內

容而引致之任何損失承擔任何責任。

本報告之資料乃遵照創業板上市規則而刊載，旨在提供有關

高誠資本有限公司之資料。高誠資本有限公司各董事願就本

報告共同及個別承擔全部責任，並在作出一切合理查詢後確

認，就彼等所深知及確信(i)本報告所載資料在各重大方面均

屬準確完整，且無誤導或欺詐成分；及(ii)本報告並無遺漏任

何事項，致使本報告所載任何陳述產生誤導。
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About
Crosby Capital Limited

Crosby Capital Limited (“Crosby” or the “Company” and, 
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is an independent 
asset management group listed on the Hong Kong Stock 
Exchange’s GEM board (HK GEM 8088).

The Group is engaged in the businesses of asset management 
and direct investment.
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Highlights
• Revenue – US$2.8 million (2011: US$5.6 million)

US$2.5 million (2011: US$4.3 million) of which was from continuing 
operations

• Loss attributable to owners of the Company
– US$4.9 million (2011: US$6.3 million)
US$4.4 million (2011: US$5.1 million) of which was from continuing 
operations

• Capital deficiency attributable to owners of 
the Company
– US$17.6 million (2011: US$17.9 million)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OVERVIEW
The Group has continued to focus its resources to further strengthen and grow the Group’s asset 
management businesses, both organically and through acquisitions when appropriate opportunities 
arise, and to control costs. The Group intends to increase its assets under management in different 
asset classes either by organically expanding its existing asset management businesses, launching 
new investment funds under its management or by collaboration with other fund managers, or via the 
commencement or acquisition of new financial services businesses complementary to the Group’s 
businesses, including but not limited to asset management businesses.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Our asset management activities comprise both hedge fund and private equity fund management 
businesses under Shikumen and Crosby. BlackPine Private Equity Partners Fund, a private equity fund 
managed by Shikumen, which has commenced investment activities and contributed fee income to the 
Group since its launch in early 2011 and accomplished a subsequent closing with further committed 
funding from overseas institutional investors in July 2012. The Group has also continued to manage and 
advise a number of other hedge funds and private equity funds with an Asian or Greater China focus. 
On the other hand, as an internal rationalization of our businesses, Crosby Wealth Management decided 
to discontinue its operation at the end of September 2012 and requested the Securities and Futures 
Commission to revoke its license. Following the revocation of license by the Securities and Futures 
Commission on 27 February 2013, the directors of Crosby Wealth Management have decided to seek the 
approval of the shareholders to proceed with the voluntary liquidation detailed in the announcement 
dated 11 March 2013. The Directors consider that the liquidation of Crosby Wealth Management does 
not have any material adverse impact on the operation of the Group, as Crosby Wealth Management has 
been loss-making prior to being proposed for voluntary liquidation.

To complement its existing asset management businesses, the Group established Crosby Securities 
in late 2012 to provide brokerage and investment advisory services. A number of highly experienced 
professionals with institutional sales and research backgrounds have joined Crosby Securities. Its license 
was granted by the Securities and Futures Commission on 6 March 2013.

We will continue to control our costs and focus our resources to further strengthen and grow the Group’s 
asset management businesses, both organically and through acquisitions when appropriate opportunities 
arise.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Financial Results
The Group reported a loss attributable to owners for the year under review of US$4.9 million as compared 
to a loss attributable to owners of US$6.3 million last year, US$4.4 million and US$5.1 million of which are 
the losses from continuing operations for the year under review and last year respectively.

Revenue from continuing operations decreased to US$2.5 million for the year under review, compared 
to that of US$4.3 million last year. Total operating expenses (being other administrative expenses plus 
other operating expenses) from continuing operations for the year under review were US$6.2 million as 
compared to US$6.2 million last year. Excluding the initial set up costs for Crosby Securities incurred in 
late 2012, the Group managed to reduce the operating costs below last year’s level.

Gain on financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss of US$2.5 million for the year under review 
arose from the recognition of the embedded derivatives in the Tranche 1 and Tranche 2 5-year Zero 
Coupon Convertible Bonds placed, the warrants issued on the repurchase of the old 5-year Zero Coupon 
Convertible Bonds as well as the redeemable convertible preference shares issued with the rights issue as 
set out in Note 28 to the financial statements.

Segment Results
The major reportable operating segment is asset management (including wealth management and 
Shikumen businesses) for the year under review. Wealth management business ceased on 28 September 
2012 and was re-presented as discontinued operations. The segment result from asset management for 
the year under review was a loss of US$3.0 million as compared with a loss of US$2.7 million last year, 
US$2.1 million and US$0.6 million of which were the segment loss from continuing operations of asset 
management for the year under review and last year respectively. An analysis of the results by operating 
segments is provided in Note 5 to the financial statements.

Finance Costs
The finance costs from continuing operations were US$2.6 million for the year under review compared to 
US$2.5 million last year. The increase arose largely from the higher notional effective interest expenses 
on the Tranche 1 and Tranche 2 5-year Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds issued in October 2010 and 
March 2011 respectively as compared to those on the old 5-year Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds which 
was repurchased in October 2010. An analysis of the finance costs is provided in Note 8 to the financial 
statements.

Non-controlling Interests
The credit to non-controlling interests in the consolidated income statement for the year under review of 
US$0.3 million (2011: US$1.0 million) represented 44.14% non-controlling shareholders’ share of losses in 
the Group’s wealth management operating subsidiaries for the year under review.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Financial Position and Resources
Significant Capital Assets and Investments
The Group’s office premises in AXA Centre in Wanchai, Hong Kong, which were purchased in March 
2011, represented the major capital asset. The net carrying amount of this leasehold land and building 
as at 31 December 2012 was US$9.5 million (2011: US$9.7 million) as set out in Note 15 to the financial 
statements.

As at 31 December 2012, the Group had investments, mainly available-for-sale investments of US$0.7 
million (2011: US$0.7 million). Details of the Group’s investments, risk management objectives and 
policies and exposure to market risk, are set out in Notes 17, 19, 23 and 38 to the financial statements. 

On 26 March 2012, the Company signed a subscription agreement to invest HK$20 million (approximately 
US$2.6 million) in a note (the “Note”) issued by Silver Pointer Limited (“Silver Pointer”), a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Shikumen Special Situations Fund (“SSSF”), an investment fund managed by Shikumen 
Capital Management (HK) Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Silver Pointer is 
established by SSSF to pursue private equity investment opportunities as permitted under its investment 
mandate. The Note is unsecured, interest-bearing at 12% per annum and repayable after a fixed term 
of 3 years or earlier based on certain conditions. As at 31 December 2012, the net carrying value of 
the Note was US$2.8 million, comprising principal of US$2.6 million and accrued interest of US$0.2 
million. Subsequent to the reporting date, Silver Pointer has made two early redemption of principal 
amounts totaling HK$17.3 million (approximately US$2.2 million) and accrued interest of HK$1.6 million 
(approximately US$0.2 million) in January 2013.

As of the date of this report, the Group has no existing plans to acquire any further significant capital 
assets and/or investments in the forthcoming year.

Liquidity
As at 31 December 2012, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of US$3.0 million (2011: US$7.8 million) 
and net current liabilities of US$30.8 million (2011: net current assets of US$7.3 million). The increase in 
net current liabilities as at 31 December 2012 was mainly due to the reclassification of the Tranche 1 and 
Tranche 2 5-year Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds of US$25.1 million and financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss arising from the embedded derivatives attached thereto of US$5.9 million from non-
current to current liabilities in view of the terms and conditions that the bondholders may request the 
Company to redeem at an early redemption amount on or after the third anniversary of 4 October 2010 
(i.e. 4 October 2013). Further details of the Group’s current assets and current liabilities, risk management 
objectives and policies and exposure to liquidity risk are set out in Notes 22 to 29 and Note 38 to the 
financial statements.

Gearing
As allowed under the terms of the old 5-year Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds issued in 2006, the 
Company entered into a Deed of Settlement with the holders of these old Convertible Bonds to 
repurchase the outstanding balance of US$20 million, for a consideration of US$20 million in cash 
financed by the issue of new 5-year Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds as detailed below and an aggregate 
of 60,000,000 warrants issued by the Company. All these outstanding old Convertible Bonds were then 
cancelled in October 2010.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In June 2010, the Company entered into a placing agreement with a placing agent pursuant to which the 
placing agent agreed to place new 5-year Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds with an aggregate principal 
amount of up to HK$250 million, comprising Tranche 1 and Tranche 2 of principal amounts up to HK$160 
million and HK$90 million respectively, subject to certain conditions. On 4 October 2010, with the 
fulfilment of all conditions required, the Company issued the Tranche 1 5-year Convertible Bonds, HK$156 
million of which was used to finance the repurchase of the old 5-year Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds as 
described above. On 30 March 2011, with the fulfilment of all conditions required, the Company further 
issued the Tranche 2 5-year Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds, the proceeds of which was used to finance 
the purchase of the office premises in AXA Centre in Wanchai together with the mortgage loan.

The terms and conditions of the Tranche 1 and Tranche 2 5-year Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds are 
detailed in Note 29 to the financial statements. During the year under review, in accordance with the 
terms and conditions thereof, the conversion price was reset on 4 April 2011 and 4 October 2011, and the 
prevailing conversion price is HK$0.93 per share as reset on 4 October 2011.

The embedded derivatives in the Tranche 1 and Tranche 2 5-year Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds and 
the warrants issued on the repurchase of the old 5-year Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds were disclosed 
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss as set out in Note 28 to the financial statements.

In March 2011, a mortgage bank loan of principal amount of HK$30 million (approximately US$3,846,000) 
was drawn to finance the purchase of office premises as mentioned above. It is secured by the office 
premise in AXA Centre, Wanchai, Hong Kong, corporate guarantees of unlimited amount and HK$30 
million (approximately US$3,846,000) by the Company and Shikumen, its wholly owned subsidiary, 
respectively. As at 31 December 2012, the outstanding amount was HK$27 million (i.e. approximately 
US$3.5 million).

In December 2012, a short term loan of principal amount of HK$15 million (approximately US$2.0 million) 
was drawn and details of the terms are set out in Note 26 to the financial statements. Subsequent to the 
reporting date, it has been fully repaid in early January 2013.

As at 31 December 2012, the Group had no other significant debt.

Details of the Group’s financial risk management objectives and policies and exposure to capital risk are 
set out in Note 38 to the financial statements.

As detailed in Note 3(a) to the financial statements, without changing the terms, majority of the holders 
of the 5-year Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds have indicated that they have no intention of considering 
exercising their early redemption options on 4 October 2013 and a substantial shareholder of the 
Company has undertaken to provide financial support to the Group when necessary. Assuming no 
early redemption of the Convertible Bonds, successful cost control measures, favourable income from 
the newly established businesses from Crosby Securities and the possible placement of shares of the 
Company to raise fund, it is considered that the Group’s financial resources and working capital are 
sufficient to finance its operation in the foreseeable future.

Charges
There are no significant charges on the Group’s investments and assets other than those on the office 
premises in AXA Centre as detailed above.

Commitments and Contingent Liabilities
At 31 December 2012, the Group had no significant commitments, other than those under operating 
leases for the rental of its other office premises as set out in Note 34 to the financial statements, and no 
contingent liabilities, including pension obligations, other than those as set out in Note 35 to the financial 
statements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Equity Structure
An analysis of the movements in equity during the year under review is set out in the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity on pages 36 and 37 of the financial statements.

Upon the capital reduction becoming effective from 31 May 2012, each authorized but unissued 
ordinary share and redeemable convertible preference share (“RCPS”) of par value of US$0.10 has been 
subdivided into 10 new adjusted shares of US$0.01 each. The par value of each issued ordinary share and 
RCPS has been reduced from US$0.10 to US$0.01 by cancelling US$0.09 of the paid-up capital on each 
issued ordinary share and RCPS. The credit arising from the capital reduction of US$12.2 million along 
with the entire amount standing to the credit of share premium account of the Company of US$108.6 
million was set off against the accumulated losses of the Company, totaling US$120.8 million.

As at 31 December 2012, the total issued share capital of the Company was 137,779,206 ordinary shares, 
increased from 98,119,596 ordinary shares as at 31 December 2011 due to conversion of Convertible 
Bonds and exercise of warrants during the year, and 10,019,790 RCPS, same as those as at 31 December 
2011. Details of the movement in total share capital are set out in Note 30 to the financial statements. 

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries, has purchased or sold any of the Company’s listed 
securities during the year ended 31 December 2012.

Non-controlling Interests
Non-controlling interests in the consolidated statement of financial position decreased to US$0.1 million 
at 31 December 2012 from US$0.4 million at 31 December 2011. The balance at 31 December 2012 only 
represents 44.14% non-controlling shareholders interests in the Group’s wealth management operating 
subsidiaries.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION
As at 31 December 2012, the Group had 33 full-time employees (2011: 30). Details of the Directors’ 
remuneration and employees’ emoluments during the year are provided in Note 14 to the financial 
statements.

The remuneration packages of the Group’s Directors and employees are kept at a competitive level to 
attract, retain and motivate Directors and employees of the quality required to run the Group successfully. 
In general, remuneration consists of a combination of a fixed salary paid in cash and a performance linked 
bonus paid in cash and options. A portion of the bonus may be deferred subject to the achievement of 
certain pre-determined targets and conditions. Options are either struck at or out-of the money. The 
Group’s remuneration policies and practices are reviewed annually and benchmarked against a peer 
group of international financial institutions.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
Details of the Group’s retirement benefit schemes is set out in Note 3(q)(ii) to the financial statements.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE
Details of the Group’s financial risk management objectives and policies and exposure to foreign currency 
risk are set out in Note 38 to the financial statements.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
During the year under review, the Group made no significant acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries or 
affiliated companies.
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Profiles of Directors

Johnny Chan Kok Chung
Johnny, aged 53, one of the co-founders and joined the Board since incorporation of the 
Company. He is the Chairman of Crosby Asset Management (Hong Kong) Limited and Crosby 
Wealth Management (Hong Kong) Limited, the subsidiaries of the Company. He oversees the 
development of Crosby’s asset and wealth management businesses in Asia. He is the Chief 
Investment Officer of Crosby Asset Management (Hong Kong) Limited.

Johnny has over 25 years of experience in investment management and investment banking. He 
has acted as the Chairman of the Hong Kong Venture Capital and Private Equity Association from 
2007 to 2011 and acts as the President currently. He serves as a member of the Hong Kong Trade 
Development Council’s Financial Services Advisory Committee and is a member of the Innovation 
and Technology Commission chaired by the Financial Secretary. He has an MBA in International 
Business and a BA degree in Economics. He also holds a post-graduate diploma from the 
Securities Institute of Australia and is an Associate of the Securities Institute of Australia.

Ulric Leung Yuk Lun
Ulric, aged 49, joined the Board in October 2010 and appointed as the Group Chief Financial 
Officer following the acquisition of Shikumen Capital Management (HK) Limited (“Shikumen”) by 
the Company. He has been the Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer of Shikumen  since 
2007. Prior to joining Shikumen, Ulric was Chief Financial Officer of SAIL Advisors Limited. Ulric has 
also worked with Deutsche Bank in Hong Kong and Tokyo as Director and Regional Controller of 
the Global Equities Division in the Asia Pacific. Ulric was previously Director and Head of Finance 
at NatWest Securities Asia and Vice President and Regional Financial Controller of Lehman 
Brothers in Hong Kong.

Ulric  received his Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) from the Chinese University of 
Hong Kong. He is a Chartered Financial Analyst, a Chartered Alternative Investments Analyst, a 
member of the Chartered Association of Certified Accountants, the American Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Jeffrey Lau Chun Hung
Jeffrey, aged 36, joined the Board in March 2011. He is a co-founder and Managing Director of 
Shikumen Capital Management (HK) Limited, and Co-Head and Managing Director of BlackPine 
Private Equity Partners. Jeffrey oversees group operations and principal investments, including 
private equity, special-situation transactions and the co-investment programs. Prior to Shikumen 
Capital Management (HK) Limited, Jeffrey worked at Och-Ziff Capital Management Group in New 
York and Hong Kong where he focused on event-driven investments in non-Japan Asia. He also 
sourced and executed private equity and special-situation transactions in Greater China. Prior to 
Och-Ziff, Jeffrey worked at The Blackstone Group in New York and at Morgan Stanley in Hong 
Kong, Los Angeles and New York.

Jeffrey graduated from Harvard Business School with a Master of Business Administration. He 
graduated from Harvard College with a Bachelor of Arts (Magna Cum Laude) in Social Studies, 
where he was elected to Phi Beta Kappa.
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Profiles of Directors

Douglas Craham Morin
Douglas, aged 45, joined the Board in November 2012 and appointed as Chief Executive Officer 
and Managing Director of Crosby Securities Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. 
He holds a BA in Political Science from the University of Colorado, Boulder and an MBA from 
Thunderbird, The American Graduate School of International Business in Glendale, Arizona. In 
2008, Mr. Morin was hired by China Construction Bank International Securities (‘‘CCBIS’’), a wholly 
owned subsidiary of China Construction Bank, to establish its equity distribution platform. Mr. 
Morin was a responsible officer and handled the day-to-day operations of the CCBIS sales team 
until 2012. Prior to CCBIS, Mr. Morin worked for 12 years at Bear Stearns where he was a Managing 
Director in Hong Kong from 1997 to 2008 responsible for IPO distribution and specializing in hedge 
fund sales. Before transferring to Hong Kong, Mr. Morin worked for Bear Stearns, USA in their Los 
Angeles office in 1996 covering West-Coast based institutional investors.

Robert John Richard Owen
Robert, aged 73, was one of the co-founders of the Company and joined the board and acted as 
Chairman of the Company from February 2000 to May 2004, and re-joined the Board in May 2012. 
Robert graduated from Oxford University in 1961 with First Class Honours. He has over 40 years’ 
experience in the financial services industry. Prior to 1988, he held senior positions in the Lloyds 
Bank Group and Morgan Grenfell. In 1988, Mr. Owen became Adviser on Securities Markets to 
the Hong Kong Government and led the implementation of extensive reforms to the Hong Kong 
regulatory system, which included the establishment of the Securities and Futures Commission 
(“SFC”). In 1989, he became the first Executive Chairman of the SFC, where he served until 1992. 
Since 1992 he has held senior positions in the Asian operations of the Nomura Group and various 
other enterprises and investment funds. From 1993 to 1996, Mr. Owen was a Council Member of 
Lloyd’s of London.

Robert is currently a director of the Dubai Financial Services Authority and Citibank (Hong Kong) 
Limited, as well as a Chairman of The International Securities Consultancy Limited. He is also a 
director of Singapore Exchange Limited (“SGX”), a listed company in Singapore.

David John Robinson Herratt
David, aged 61, joined the Board in October 2010 and has over 30 years of experience in the 
insurance industry in Europe, the Middle East and Asia. He is currently Chief Executive Officer of 
Swiss Insurance Partners (Hong Kong) Limited and a consultant and advisor for Asia of Hampden 
Agencies Limited which is regulated by Lloyd’s of London and United Kingdom Financial 
Services Authority. Prior to that, he was the Chief Executive of William Russell (Far East) Limited 
in Hong Kong. He has also held executive positions with Lloyd’s of London, Thomas Miller Risk 
Management in the United Kingdom, ONIC General Insurance Company in Oman, CLP Power in 
Hong Kong and the Skandia Group. He is a Fellow of the Chartered Insurance Institute (FCII) and a 
Fellow of the Institute of Risk Management (FIRM).
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Profiles of Directors

Joseph Tong Tze Kay
Joseph, aged 50, joined the Board in August 2004 with a financial and business background 
including senior positions with Universal Music Limited, Softbank China Venture Investments 
Limited and Nomura China Investments Limited.

Joseph is a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and has degree in Accounting and Statistics from 
the University of Southampton, England. He has been an independent non-executive director of 
NetEase.com, Inc., listed on NASDAQ, since March 2003.

Daniel Yen Tzu Chen
Daniel, aged 57, joined the Board in December 2002. He currently serves on the board of Hudson 
Holding Pte Ltd., a property and investment holding company based in Singapore. He is also a 
managing director and Founder of P.T. Universal Sejati, an Indonesian trading company that deals 
in commodity metals, chemicals, machinery and mining products.

Daniel has an accounting and business background and has over 25 years experience throughout 
the Southeast Asian region particularly in Indonesia and Singapore.



Crosby Capital Limited12

Directors’ Report

The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements of the Company and the Group for 
the year ended 31 December 2012.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is to act as the holding company of the Group. The Group is 
principally engaged in the businesses of asset management and direct investment. The principal activities 
of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2012 are set out in Note 39 to the financial 
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2012 and the state of affairs of the Group and 
the Company at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 30 to 122.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are set out in Note 30 to the 
financial statements.

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are set out in the 
financial statements on pages 36 to 37 and 98 to 99 respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE
There is no reserve available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 
2011.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS
Details of the movements in convertible bonds of the Company during the year are set out in Note 29 to 
the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in 
Note 15 to the financial statements.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set 
out on page 123.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or sold any of the Company’s securities 
during the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
Details of the Share Option Schemes are set out in Note 32 to the financial statements.
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Directors’ Report

DONATIONS
The Group made charitable and other donations during the year amounting to approximately US$24,000 
(2011: US$6,000).

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors:
Johnny Chan Kok Chung
Jeffrey Lau Chun Hung 
Ulric Leung Yuk Lun
Douglas Craham Morin (appointed on 9 November 2012)

Non-Executive Directors:
Ahmad S. Al-Khaled (resigned on 30 June 2012)
Robert John Richard Owen (appointed on 14 May 2012)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
David John Robinson Herratt
Joseph Tong Tze Kay
Daniel Yen Tzu Chen

In accordance with article 86(3) of the Company’s Articles of Association, Messrs. Robert John Richard 
Owen and Douglas Craham Morin will hold office until the forthcoming annual general meeting (the 
“Annual General Meeting”) and will be eligible for re-election.

Besides, Messrs. Ulric Leung Yuk Lun and David John Robinson Herratt retire by rotation and, being 
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the Annual General Meeting in accordance with article 87 of 
the Company’s Articles of Association.

The Company has received, from each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, an annual 
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities 
on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the GEM Listing Rules”). 
The Company considers all of the Independent Non-Executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has 
a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group 
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Details of the Company’s Directors’ remuneration are set out in Note 14(a) to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
No contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a 
Director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the 
year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
As at 31 December 2012, the interests or short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the 
Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated 
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required to be notified to the 
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests 
or short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which 
were recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to 
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rule 5.46 to Rule 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating 
to securities transactions by Directors, were as follows:

(i) Interests in the ordinary shares of the Company

Name of Directors
Personal
interest

Family
interest

Corporate
interest

Aggregate
long position in
ordinary shares

of the Company

Percentage
which the

aggregate long
position in

ordinary shares
represents

to the total
ordinary shares
of the Company

in issue
%

Ulric Leung Yuk Lun 3,411,000 – – 3,411,000 2.48
Johnny Chan Kok Chung (Note) 1,892,532 47,773 – 1,940,305 1.41
Robert John Richard Owen – – 1,065,576 1,065,576 0.77
Joseph Tong Tze Kay 50,000 – – 50,000 0.04
Daniel Yen Tzu Chen 20,000 – – 20,000 0.01

Note: Yuda Udomritthiruj was beneficially interested in 47,773 ordinary shares. Yuda Udomritthiruj, an employee of a subsidiary 
of the Company, is the wife of Johnny Chan Kok Chung and, accordingly, he is deemed to have interests in her shares.



Annual Report 2012 15

Directors’ Report

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continued)
(ii) Interests in the redeemable convertible preference shares (“RCPS”) of the Company

Name of Directors
Personal
interest

Family
interest

Corporate
interest

Aggregate
long position in

RCPS of the
Company

Percentage
which the

aggregate long
position in RCPS

represents to
the total RCPS

of the Company
in issue

%

Ulric Leung Yuk Lun 850,000 – – 850,000
(Note 1)

8.48

Douglas Craham Morin – 800,000 – 800,000
(Note 2)

7.98

Johnny Chan Kok Chung 188,500 – – 188,500
(Note 3)

1.88

Notes:

1. Mr. Ulric Leung Yuk Lun owns 850,000 RCPS of the Company which can be convertible into 11,142,857 ordinary shares at 
the conversion price of HK$1.19 per share (reset on 14 March 2012) upon full conversion, representing 8.09% of the total 
ordinary share capital of the Company in issue. 

Following the reset of conversion price to HK$0.90 per share on 14 March 2013, 14,733,333 ordinary shares will be allotted 
and issued upon full conversion of 850,000 RCPS, representing 10.69% of the total ordinary share capital of the Company in 
issue.

2. Tse Kwar Mei held 800,000 RCPS of the Company through her 100% interest in Kimta Limited, which can be convertible 
into 10,487,394 ordinary shares at conversion price of HK$1.19 per share (reset on 14 March 2012) upon full conversion, 
representing 7.61% of the total ordinary share capital of the Company in issue. Tse Kwar Mei is the wife of Mr. Douglas 
Craham Morin and accordingly, he is deemed to have interests in her shares.

Following the reset of conversion price to HK$0.90 per share on 14 March 2013, 13,866,666 ordinary shares will be allotted 
and issued upon full conversion of 800,000 RCPS, representing 10.06% of the total ordinary share capital of the Company in 
issue.

3. Mr. Johnny Chan Kok Chung owns 188,500 RCPS of the Company which can be convertible into 2,471,092 ordinary shares 
at the conversion price of HK$1.19 per share (reset on 14 March 2012) upon full conversion, representing 1.79% of the total 
ordinary share capital of the Company in issue. 

Following the reset of conversion price to HK$0.90 per share on 14 March 2013, 3,267,333 ordinary shares will be allotted 
and issued upon full conversion of 188,500 RCPS, representing 2.37% of the total ordinary share capital of the Company in 
issue.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continued)
(iii) Interests in the underlying shares of the Company

The interests in the underlying shares of the Company arise from outstanding share options granted 
to the Directors under the Company’s Share Option Scheme and the outstanding convertible bonds 
due 2015 which is held by a Director, details of which are provided below:

(a) Outstanding options

Name of Directors Date of grant
Exercise

price Exercise period

Balance as at
1 January

2012

Granted
during

the year

Exercised
during

the year

Cancelled/
lapsed during

the year

Balance as at
31 December

2012
(dd/mm/yyyy) HK$ (dd/mm/yyyy)

Johnny Chan Kok Chung 26/04/2006 57.054 26/04/2007 to 
25/04/2016

809,756 – – – 809,756

11/02/2008 13.337 11/02/2009 to 
10/02/2018

404,888 – – – 404,888

07/10/2010 1.171 07/10/2011 to 
06/10/2020

377,886 – – – 377,886

16/03/2012 1.206 16/03/2013 to 
15/03/2022

– 580,000 – – 580,000
     

1,592,530 580,000 – – 2,172,530     

Robert John Richard Owen 11/02/2008 13.337 11/02/2009 to 
10/02/2018

33,739 – – – 33,739

14/05/2012 1.136 14/05/2013 to 
13/05/2022

– 980,000 – – 980,000
     

33,739 980,000 – – 1,013,739     

Jeffrey Lau Chun Hung 07/10/2010 1.171 07/10/2011 to 
06/10/2020

404,878 – – – 404,878

16/03/2012 1.206 16/03/2013 to 
15/03/2022

– 580,000 – – 580,000
     

404,878 580,000 – – 984,878     

Ulric Leung Yuk Lun 07/10/2010 1.171 07/10/2011 to 
06/10/2020

202,439 – – – 202,439

16/03/2012 1.206 16/03/2013 to 
15/03/2022

– 580,000 – – 580,000
     

202,439 580,000 – – 782,439     

Daniel Yen Tzu Chen 24/03/2006 57.054 24/03/2007 to 
23/03/2016

67,479 – – – 67,479

29/01/2007 27.045 29/01/2008 to 
28/01/2017

33,739 – – – 33,739

11/02/2008 13.337 11/02/2009 to 
10/02/2018

67,479 – – – 67,479

29/12/2008 1.334 29/12/2009 to 
28/12/2018

67,479 – – – 67,479

16/03/2012 1.206 16/03/2013 to 
15/03/2022

– 170,000 – – 170,000
     

236,176 170,000 – – 406,176     

Joseph Tong Tze Kay 24/03/2006 57.054 24/03/2007 to 
23/03/2016

67,479 – – – 67,479

29/01/2007 27.045 29/01/2008 to 
28/01/2017

33,739 – – – 33,739

11/02/2008 13.337 11/02/2009 to 
10/02/2018

67,479 – – – 67,479

29/12/2008 1.334 29/12/2009 to 
28/12/2018

67,479 – – – 67,479

16/03/2012 1.206 16/03/2013 to 
15/03/2022

– 170,000 – – 170,000
     

236,176 170,000 – – 406,176     

David John Robinson Herratt 16/03/2012 1.206 16/03/2013 to 
15/03/2022 – 170,000 – – 170,000     

Note: The closing prices of the shares of the Company quoted on the Stock Exchange on 15 March 2012 and 11 May 
2012, being the business date immediately before the date on which share options were granted, were HK$1.20 and 
HK$1.14 respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continued)
(iii) Interests in the underlying shares of the Company (continued)

(b) Outstanding convertible bonds

Name of Director Conversion price

Aggregate
long position in

underlying
shares of

the Company

Percentage
which the

aggregate long
position in
underlying

shares of
the Company

represents
to the total

ordinary share
capital of

the Company
in issue

%

Ulric Leung Yuk Lun HK$0.93 5,376,344 3.90

Note: Mr. Ulric Leung Yuk Lun owns convertible bonds for a principal sum of HK$5,000,000 which can be convertible into 
5,376,344 ordinary shares at conversion price of HK$0.93 per share (reset on 4 October 2011) upon full conversion.

(iv) Short positions
None of the Directors held short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any 
Associated Corporation.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2012, none of the Directors or chief executive of the 
Company had any interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of 
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which 
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed to have 
under such provision of the SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to be kept under 
section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to 
Rule 5.46 to Rule 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by Directors.



Crosby Capital Limited18

Directors’ Report

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER PERSONS
As at 31 December 2012, the following persons, other than the Directors or chief executive of the 
Company, had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which 
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, 
or is expected, directly or indirectly, to be interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of 
share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any other member of the 
Group.

(i) Interests in the ordinary shares and underlying shares of the Company

Name

Aggregate
long position

in ordinary
shares

Aggregate
long position
in underlying

shares of
the Company

The total long
position in

ordinary shares
and underlying

shares to the
total ordinary
share capital

of the Company
in issue 

%

Substantial Shareholders
Hidy Investment Limited (Note 1) 3,000,000 118,434,082 88.14
Sodikin (Note1) 3,000,000 118,434,082 88.14
Nelson Tang Yu Ming (Notes 2 and 3) 41,092,000 76,323,502 85.22
Crosby Management Holdings Limited

(Note 2) 41,092,000 74,722,689 84.06
Main Wealth Enterprises Limited (Note 4) 20,941,376 23,655,914 32.37
Lau Kit Mei (Note 4) 20,941,376 23,655,914 32.37
Greyhound International Limited (Note 5) – 43,010,752 31.22
James Wu Ting Fai (Note 5) – 43,010,752 31.22

Other Persons
Kimta Limited (Note 6) – 10,487,394 7.61
Tse Kwar Mei (Note 6) – 10,487,394 7.61
Simon Wu Siu Fai (Note 7) 8,176,800 1,257,176 6.85
Wilson Lau Yu Fung 9,129,032 – 6.63
Frank Ng Chun Fai (Note 8) – 8,149,320 5.91

Notes:

1. Hidy Investment Limited (“Hidy Investment”) held 3,000,000 ordinary shares and 750,000 RCPS of the Company. Hidy 
Investment also owns 118,434,082 underlying shares, out of which 108,602,150 ordinary shares will be allotted and issued 
upon full conversion of the outstanding convertible bonds for a principal sum of HK$101,000,000 at conversion price of 
HK$0.93 per share (reset on 4 October 2011); and 9,831,932 ordinary shares will be allotted and issued upon full conversion 
of 750,000 RCPS at conversion price of HK$1.19 per share (reset on 14 March 2012). Sodikin is deemed to be interested in 
these shares through his 100% interests in Hidy Investment. 

Following the reset of the conversion price of RCPS to HK$0.90 per share on 14 March 2013, 13,000,000 ordinary shares will 
be allotted and issued upon full conversion of 750,000 RCPS, increasing its aggregate interest from 88.14% to 90.44% of the 
total ordinary share capital of the Company in issue.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER PERSONS (continued)
(i) Interests in the ordinary shares and underlying shares of the Company (continued)

2. Crosby Management Holdings Limited (“Crosby Management”) held 41,092,000 ordinary shares of the Company. Crosby 
Management is beneficially owned as to 96.7% by Nelson Tang Yu Ming who is entitled to exercise more than 30% of the 
voting power at the general meetings of Crosby Management and, accordingly, he is deemed to be interested in 41,092,000 
ordinary shares owned by Crosby Management. Crosby Management also owns 5,700,000 RCPS which can be convertible 
into 74,722,689 ordinary shares at conversion price of HK$1.19 per share (reset on 14 March 2012) upon full conversion.

Following the reset of the conversion price of RCPS to HK$0.90 per share on 14 March 2013, 98,800,000 ordinary shares will 
be allotted and issued upon full conversion of 5,700,000 RCPS, increasing its aggregate interest from 84.06% to 101.53% of 
the total ordinary share capital of the Company in issue.

3. Nelson Tang Yu Ming was granted 620,813 options at an exercise price of HK$1.171 per share and 980,000 options at 
an exercise price of HK$1.206 per share to subscribe for shares of the Company on 7 October 2010 and 16 March 2012 
respectively. 

4. Main Wealth Enterprises Limited (“Main Wealth”) owns 20,941,376 ordinary shares of the Company and 23,655,914 
underlying shares, which will be allotted and issued upon full conversion of the outstanding convertible bonds for a 
principal sum of HK$22,000,000 at conversion price of HK$0.93 per share (reset on 4 October 2011). Lau Kit Mei is deemed 
to be interested in these shares through her 100% interests in Main Wealth. 

5. Greyhound International Limited owns 43,010,752 underlying shares which will be allotted and issued upon full conversion 
of the outstanding convertible bonds for a principal sum of HK$40,000,000 at conversion price of HK$0.93 per share (reset 
on 4 October 2011). James Wu Ting Fai is deemed to be interested in these shares through his 100% interests in Greyhound 
International Limited. 

6. Tse Kwar Mei held 800,000 RCPS of the Company through her 100% interest in Kimta Limited, which can be convertible into 
10,487,394 ordinary shares at conversion price of HK$1.19 per share (reset on 14 March 2012) upon full conversion. Tse Kwar 
Mei is the wife of Douglas Craham Morin and accordingly, he is deemed to have interests in her shares.

Following the reset of the conversion price of RCPS to HK$0.90 per share on 14 March 2013, 13,866,666 ordinary shares will 
be allotted and issued upon full conversion of 800,000 RCPS, increasing its aggregate interest from 7.61% to 10.06% of the 
total ordinary share capital of the Company in issue.

7. Simon Wu Siu Fai owns 8,176,800 ordinary shares and 95,900 RCPS of the Company, of which 1,257,176 ordinary shares will 
be allotted and issued upon full conversion of the outstanding RCPS at conversion price of HK$1.19 per share (reset on 
14 March 2012).

Following the reset of the conversion price of RCPS to HK$0.90 per share on 14 March 2013, 1,662,266 ordinary shares will 
be allotted and issued upon full conversion of 95,900 RCPS, increasing its aggregate interest from 6.85% to 7.14% of the 
total ordinary share capital of the Company in issue.

8. Frank Ng Chun Fai owns 8,149,320 underlying shares, out of which 7,526,881 ordinary shares will be allotted and issued 
upon full conversion of the outstanding convertible bonds for a principal sum of HK$7,000,000 at conversion price of 
HK$0.93 per share (reset on 4 October 2011). Frank Ng Chun Fai was also granted 202,439 options at an exercise price of 
HK$1.171 per share and 420,000 options at an exercise price of HK$1.206 per share to subscribe for ordinary shares of the 
Company on 7 October 2010 and 16 March 2012 respectively. 

(ii) Short positions
No person held short positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in 
the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2012, the Directors of the Company were not aware of 
any other person who had an interest or short position in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the 
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 
of Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2012, no other person had interests which were 
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.
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MAJOR CLIENTS AND SUPPLIERS
The Group is mainly engaged in the business of asset management and its income is primarily derived 
from the return on investments and the disclosure of information regarding customers and suppliers 
would not be meaningful.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
The Group had no connected transactions during the year that require disclosure under the GEM Listing 
Rules.

FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AND GUARANTEES TO AFFILIATED COMPANIES
As at 31 December 2012, the Group had no advances outstanding which were non-trading in nature and 
exceeded 8% of the total assets of the Group as at 31 December 2012 which was required to be disclosed 
under Rule 17.18 of the GEM Listing Rules.

COMPETING INTERESTS
The Directors are not aware of any business or interest, as at 31 December 2012, of the Directors, initial 
management shareholders of the Company or their respective associates which was required to be 
disclosed under Rule 11.04 of the GEM Listing Rules.

FULL NAME AND QUALIFICATIONS OF COMPANY SECRETARY AND THE 
COMPLIANCE OFFICER
The Company Secretary of the Company is Winnie Sin Wing Hung. She is a member of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and is also a member of the Hong Kong Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants.

The Compliance Officer of the Company is Ulric Leung Yuk Lun. He holds a Bachelor of Business 
Administration (Honours) from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a Chartered Financial Analyst, 
a Chartered Alternative Investments Analyst, a member of the Chartered Association of Certified 
Accountants, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors are responsible for the preparation of these financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended 31 December 2012.

AUDITOR
The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012 were audited by BDO Limited who will 
retire from office and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting of the Company.

For and on behalf of the Board

Ulric Leung Yuk Lun
Executive Director
14 March 2013
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Company has complied with the code provisions (“Code 
Provisions”) as set out in the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing 
Rules, except for the following deviations:-

Code Provision A.2.1
Code Provision A.2.1 provides that the roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) should 
be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

Following the step down of Mr. Ilyas Tariq Khan from the office of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of 
the Company on 4 October 2010, the Company has not appointed Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, 
and the roles and functions of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer have been performed by the four 
Executive Directors of the Company collectively.

Code Provision A.5.1
Code Provision A.5.1 provides that the Nomination Committee should be chaired by the Chairman of 
the Board or an Independent Non-Executive Director and comprises a majority of Independent Non-
Executive Directors.

Following the amendment to Code Provision A.5.1 the composition of Nomination Committee was 
restructured on 9 August 2012 and Mr. Ulric Leung Yuk Lun, the Executive Director, who was the chairman 
of the Nomination Committee, was no longer serve the Nomination Committee and Mr. Daniel Yen Tzu 
Chen, the Independent Non-Executive Director, who is a member of the Nomination Committee replaced 
Mr. Ulric Leung Yuk Lun as chairman of the Nomination Committee.

Code Provision A.6.7
Code Provision A.6.7 provides that the Independent Non-Executive Directors and other Non-Executive 
Directors should attend general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of 
shareholders.

The Non-executive Director and two Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company were unable 
to attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on 4 May 2012 due to absences from Hong 
Kong.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTION
The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions on terms no 
less exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Having made specific enquiries of all Directors of the Company, the Company is satisfied that the 
Directors of the Company have complied with the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, and with the Company’s code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities 
transactions.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition
The Board comprises eight Directors, of which three are Independent Non-Executive Directors, as 
follows:

Executive Directors:
Johnny Chan Kok Chung
Jeffrey Lau Chun Hung
Ulric Leung Yuk Lun
Douglas Craham Morin

Non-Executive Director:
Robert John Richard Owen

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
David John Robinson Herratt
Joseph Tong Tze Kay
Daniel Yen Tzu Chen

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the “Profiles of Directors” on pages 9 and 11, and are 
posted on the Company’s website (www.crosbycapitallimited.com).

The principal role of the Board is to provide strategic leadership to the Group within a framework 
of prudent and effective controls, which enables risk to be assessed and managed. The Board sets 
the Group’s strategic aims, oversees the allocation of financial and human resources and reviews 
management performance. The Board sets the Group’s values and standards and ensures that its 
obligations to shareholders and others are met and understood. The Board meets at least quarterly to 
review and discuss the Group’s performance, strategy and business opportunities available. The Board 
also reviews and approves the Quarterly, Interim and Annual Reports of the Company. The Board has 
delegated the day-to-day running of the Group to the Executive Directors/Chief Executive Officer and the 
Group’s management team. However, the Board retains responsibility for:

• Approving annual operating and capital expenditure budgets and any material changes to them;

• Approving the remuneration of the Directors (based on the recommendations of the Remuneration 
Committee);

• Approving the appointment of Directors (based on recommendations of the Nomination 
Committee);

• Approving the Quarterly, Interim and Annual Reports (based on recommendations of the Audit 
Committee);

• Approving any decision to cease to operate all or any material part of the business;

• Approving any changes relating to the Group’s capital structure, including the reduction of capital, 
share issues and share buy backs; and

• Approval of dividend policy and declaration of interim and final dividends.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Composition (continued)
The Company has complied with Rules 5.05(1) and (2), and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules, relating 
to the appointment of sufficient number of Independent Non-Executive Directors. An Independent 
Non-Executive Director has appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial 
management expertise.

The Company considers that each of its Independent Non-Executive Directors are independent in 
accordance with the guidelines for assessing independence set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has received, from each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, an annual 
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers 
all of the Independent Non-Executive Directors are independent.

Mr. Daniel Yen Tzu Chen has served as an Independent Non-Executive Director for more than nine 
years. The Board is of the opinion that he remains independent, notwithstanding his length of tenure. 
Mr. Yen continues to demonstrate the attributes of an Independent Non-Executive Director and there 
is no evidence that his tenure has had any impact on his independence. The Board believes that his 
detailed knowledge and experience of the Group’s business and his external experience continue to be 
of significant benefit to the Company, and that he maintains an independent view of its affairs.

The Company considers that there is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other 
material/relevant relationship) among the members of the Board.

Term of Appointment and Re-election
The Non-Executive Directors were appointed for fixed terms of one year and thereafter are terminable 
on three month’s written notice from either party. Every Director is subject to retirement by rotation at 
least once every three years. All Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy are subject to election by 
shareholders at the first general meeting after their appointment.

Training and Support for Directors
All the Directors, including Non-Executive Directors and Independent Non-Executive Directors, 
are briefed on regular basis to have a proper understanding of their collective responsibilities as 
Directors and of the operations and business of the Group. The Group assists in arranging professional 
development training to all the Directors to develop and refresh the Directors’ knowledge and skills, 
and continuously updates all the Directors on latest developments regarding the GEM Listing Rules and 
other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and to enhance their awareness of good 
coporate governance practices.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Composition (continued)
Board Meetings
There have been six meetings of the Board during the year.

Attendance of individual Directors at meetings of the Board held during the year was as follows:

No. of board
meetings attended

Johnny Chan Kok Chung 6
Jeffrey Lau Chun Hung 5
Ulric Leung Yuk Lun 6
Douglas Craham Morin (appointed on 9 November 2012) 1
Robert John Richard Owen (appointed on 14 May 2012) 3
David John Robinson Herratt 6
Joseph Tong Tze Kay 6
Daniel Yen Tzu Chen 6

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Following the completion of disposal of the Company’s merchant banking assets and the corporate 
finance and financial advisory services businesses to ECK Partners Holdings Limited, Mr. Ilyas Tariq 
Khan stepped down from the office of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect 
from 4 October 2010. Up to the date of this report, the Board has not appointed an individual to take 
up the vacancy of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company; and the roles and functions of 
the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer have been performed by the four Executive Directors of the 
Company collectively.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AND REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS
The Company established a Remuneration Committee on 11 August 2005. The Committee meets at 
least once a year. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are posted on the Company’s 
website (www.crosbycapitallimited.com). The principal functions of the Remuneration Committee 
include: recommending to the Board the policy and structure for the remuneration of the Chairman, 
Executive Director and senior management (as determined by the Board), determining the specific 
remuneration packages of the Chairman, Executive Directors and senior management, reviewing and 
approving performance-based remuneration and compensation for loss or termination of office payable 
to Chairman, Executive Directors and senior management, ensuring no Director is involved in deciding his 
or her own remuneration, and approving the service contracts of Directors. The Remuneration Committee 
also fulfils the role of an Options Committee for the Employee Share Option Scheme and its main duty in 
this context is to approve the grant of options to relevant employees.

The Remuneration Committee, comprising all Independent Non-Executive Directors, is chaired by 
Mr. Daniel Yen Tzu Chen, and its membership includes Messrs. Joseph Tong Tze Kay and David John 
Robinson Herratt.

There was three Remuneration Committee meetings during the year.

The Remuneration Committee determined the specific remuneration packages of all the Executive 
Directors and senior management.



Annual Report 2012 25

Corporate Governance Report

NOMINATION COMMITTEE AND NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS
The Company established a Nomination Committee on 11 August 2005. The terms of reference of the 
Nomination Committee are posted on the Company’s website (www.crosbycapitallimited.com). The 
principal function of the Nomination Committee is the consideration and nomination of candidates to fill 
casual vacancies to the Board.

The Nomination Committee comprised a majority of Independent Non-Executive Directors, is chaired by 
Mr. Daniel Yen Tzu Chen, and its membership includes Messrs. Jeffrey Lau Chun Hung and Joseph Tong 
Tze Kay.

There was two Nomination Committee meetings during the year.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company established an Audit Committee on 31 March 2000 with the written terms of reference. 
The terms of reference are available on the Company’s website (www.crosbycapitallimited.com). The 
Audit Committee comprises three Independent Non-Executive Directors, Messrs. Joseph Tong Tze Kay 
(Chairman), Daniel Yen Tzu Chen and David John Robinson Herratt. The duties of the Audit Committee 
include: managing the relationship with the Group’s external auditor, reviewing the financial information 
of the Company, and overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process and internal control systems. 
The Audit Committee reports its work, findings and recommendations to the Board after each meeting.

The Audit Committee met four times during the year ended 31 December 2012.

The Audit Committee has met with the Auditor and the Chief Financial Officer during the year to 
review the 2011 Annual Report and the Quarterly Report for the quarters ended 31 March 2012 and 30 
September 2012, and the Interim Report for the six months ended 30 June 2012. The Audit Committee 
has also met to review these annual figures and was satisfied with the outcome of its review.

The composition of the Audit Committee meets the requirements of Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
Auditor’s remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by external auditor from 
continuing operations for the year ended 31 December 2012 amounted to US$64,000 (2011: US$63,000) 
and US$12,000 (2011: US$12,000) respectively. The non-audit services included the review of the Quarterly 
and Interim Reports of the Company during the year.

INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board is responsible for maintaining a strong system of internal control and risk management to 
safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets. The definition of internal control applied 
by the Board is that, stated in “Internal Control – Integrated Framework”, issued by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission (“COSCO”) in the United States in 1992 as 
recommended by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, of a process designed to 
provide reasonable assurance regarding the achievement of objectives in relation to the following:

(i) Effectiveness and efficiency of operations;

(ii) Reliability of financial reporting; and

(iii) Compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
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INTERNAL CONTROL (continued)
The Group’s system of internal control is designed to manage, rather than eliminate the risk of failure to 
achieve business objectives, and can only provide a reasonable, but not an absolute, assurance in this 
respect. In addition, it cannot guarantee against material misstatement or loss.

Through the Group’s risk management framework, there is an on-going process for identifying, evaluating 
and managing the significant risks faced by the Group, including business, financial, compliance, legal 
and operating risks. As part of this process, the Company conducted a review of the effectiveness 
of its system of internal control during the year ended 31 December 2012. The Board, based on 
recommendations of the Audit Committee, has concluded that the internal control systems are effective 
and adequate, and that there are no significant areas of concern which may affect shareholders. The 
review covered all material controls including financial, operational and compliance controls, and risk 
management. The criteria the Board use to assess the effectiveness of the system of internal control 
included:

(i) The nature and extent of the risks facing the Group;

(ii) The extent and categories of risk that the Board regards as acceptable for the Group to bear;

(iii) The likelihood of the risks materialising and the financial impact of the risks;

(iv) The Group’s ability to reduce the incidence and impact on the business of risks that do materialise; 
and

(v) The costs of operating particular controls relative to the benefit thereby obtained.

The Board will review the risk management framework and the effectiveness of internal control on at least 
on annual basis.

The Board, based on the recommendations of the Audit Committee, has considered the need for an 
Internal Audit function during the year and has decided, after taking into account of the size of the 
Group, the scale, diversity and complexity of its activities, the number of employees, the level of external 
oversight that companies within the Group receive from regulatory bodies, as well as cost/benefit 
considerations, that an Internal Audit function is not yet justified. This decision will be reviewed annually.

SHARE INTERESTS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT
The number of shares held by senior management are set out in the Directors’ Report on pages 14 to 17.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE
The Company arranges appropriate insurance cover in respect of potential legal actions against its 
Directors and Officers.
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SHAREHOLDERS
The Board recognises its responsibility to represent the interest of all shareholders and to maximise 
shareholder value and this section of the Corporate Governance Report details the Group’s policies and 
actions in this respect.

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the Company, any one or more shareholders 
holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up share capital of the Company carrying the right of voting 
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board 
or the Company Secretary, to require an Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”) to be convened, stating 
the objects of the meeting, and deposited with our Company Secretary at Unit 502, 5th Floor, AXA 
Centre, 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The meeting shall be held within two months after 
the deposit of such requisition.

The procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at an Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) or 
EGM require that a written notice of those proposals be submitted by the shareholders to the Company 
Secretary at Unit 502, 5th Floor, AXA Centre, 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The detailed 
procedures vary according to whether the proposal constitutes an ordinary resolution or a special 
resolution.

Enquiries to be put to the Board should be made in writing and directed to the Company Secretary at Unit 
502, 5th Floor, AXA Centre, 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The most recent shareholders meetings were as follows:-

AGM held at 10:00 a.m. on 4 May 2012 at Unit 502, 5th Floor, AXA Centre, 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, 
Hong Kong. The major items discussed were:

(i) Consider and adoption of the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011.

(ii) Re-election of Messrs. Johnny Kok Chung Chan and Daniel Yen Tzu Chen as Directors, and authorise 
the Directors to fix the Directors’ remuneration.

(iii) Re-appointment of BDO Limited as the Auditors of the Company, and authorise the Directors to fix 
their remuneration.

(iv) Approval of the renewal of the Scheme Mandate Limit of the Company.

All the above resolutions received sufficient votes to be duly carried.

The dates and prospective dates that are important to shareholders in the coming financial year are 
summarised as follows:-

3 May 2013 1st Quarterly Results Announcement
10 May 2013 2012 Annual General Meeting
8 August 2013 Interim Results Announcement
7 November 2013 3rd Quarterly Results Announcement

As at 31 December 2012, the public float capitalisation was approximately US$11,448,000 and the number 
of issued shares on the public float, represents 65.47% of the outstanding issued share capital of the 
Company.
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To the shareholders of Crosby Capital Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Crosby Capital Limited (“the Company”) and 
its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) set out on pages 30 to 122, which comprise the consolidated 
and company statements of financial position as at 31 December 2012, and the consolidated income 
statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes 
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’  RESPONSIB IL ITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED F INANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. 
This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no 
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the 
contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion.

BDO Limited
香港立信德豪會計師事務所有限公司

BDO Limited, a Hong Kong limited company, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, 
and forms part of the international BDO network of independent member firms.
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OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2012, and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly 
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

EMPHASIS OF MATTER – MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY REGARDING THE GOING 
CONCERN ASSUMPTION
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw your attention to Note 3(a) to the consolidated financial 
statements concerning the adoption of the going concern basis on which the consolidated financial 
statements have been prepared. As at 31 December 2012, the Group had net current liabilities of 
approximately US$30,831,000 and the Group’s total liabilities exceeded its total assets by approximately 
US$17,541,000 and the Group also incurred a loss of approximately US$5,249,000 for the year then 
ended. The Company had net current liabilities of approximately US$31,597,000 and the Company’s 
total liabilities exceeded its total assets by approximately US$19,144,000 as at 31 December 2012. These 
conditions, along with other matters as disclosed in Note 3(a) to the consolidated financial statements, 
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s and 
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Chiu Wing Cheung Ringo
Practising Certificate no. P04434

Hong Kong, 14 March 2013
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For the year ended 31 December 2012

(Restated)
2012 2011

Notes US$’000 US$’000

Continuing operations

Revenue 6 2,481 4,323
Cost of sales (598) (570)  

Gross profit 1,883 3,753

Loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 23(b) (30) (175)
Gain on financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 28 2,484 654
Other income 7 396 153

Administrative expenses
Amortisation of intangible assets 20 (569) (815)
Other administrative expenses (5,677) (5,591)

(6,246) (6,406)
Impairment of available-for-sale investments 19 – (4)
Share of profit of a jointly controlled entity 217 –
Other operating expenses (498) (574)  

Loss from operations (1,794) (2,599)

Finance costs 8 (2,565) (2,535)  

Loss before taxation 9 (4,359) (5,134)

Taxation 10(a) – (4)  

Loss for the year from continuing operations (4,359) (5,138)  

Discontinued operations

Loss for the year from discontinued operations 11 (890) (2,148)  

Loss for the year (5,249) (7,286)  
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(Restated)
2012 2011

Notes US$’000 US$’000

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 12

Loss for the year from continuing operations (4,359) (5,138)
Loss for the year from discontinued operations (541) (1,156)  

(4,900) (6,294)  

Non-controlling interests
Loss for the year from continuing operations – –
Loss for the year from discontinued operations (349) (992)  

(349) (992)  

Loss for the year (5,249) (7,286)  

Loss per share attributable to owners of the Company 
during the year

13 (Restated)
US cents US cents

Basic
Continuing operations (3.46) (8.06)
Discontinued operations (0.43) (1.82)  

(3.89) (9.88)  

Diluted
Continuing operations N/A N/A
Discontinued operations N/A N/A  

N/A N/A  

The notes on pages 40 to 122 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2012

(Restated)
2012 2011

Note US$’000 US$’000

Loss for the year (5,249) (7,286)
Other comprehensive income:

Available-for-sale investments
(Deficit)/Surplus on revaluation 19 (19) 57
Recycle to income statement:

Provision for impairment – 4
Gain upon disposal – (15)

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 2 4

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (17) 50  

Total comprehensive income for the year,
before and net of tax (5,266) (7,236)  

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company (4,917) (6,244)
Non-controlling interests (349) (992)  

Total comprehensive income for the year,
before and net of tax (5,266) (7,236)  

The notes on pages 40 to 122 from part of these financial statements.
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2012 2011
Notes US$’000 US$’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15 10,403 10,688
Interests in jointly controlled entities 17 227 220
Note receivable 18 2,801 –
Available-for-sale investments 19 699 718
Intangible assets 20 112 577
Goodwill 21 3,311 3,311  

17,553 15,514  

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 22 1,489 2,153
Tax recoverable – 195
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 23 30 60
Cash and cash equivalents 24 3,021 7,774  

4,540 10,182  

Current liabilities
Other payables 25 2,009 2,536
Deferred income – 52
Loan payable 62 –
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 28 5,942 –
Convertible bonds 29 25,112 –
Borrowings 26 2,246 251  

35,371 2,839  

Net current (liabilities)/assets (30,831) 7,343  

Total assets less current liabilities (13,278) 22,857  
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2012 2011
Notes US$’000 US$’000

Non-current liabilities
Loan payable – 59
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 28 97 9,262
Convertible bonds 29 – 26,573
Borrowings 26 4,166 4,392  

4,263 40,286  

Net liabilities (17,541) (17,429)  

EQUITY

Share capital 30 1,378 9,812
Reserves 31 (18,991) (27,662)  

Capital deficiency attributable to owners of the Company (17,613) (17,850)
Non-controlling interests 72 421  

Capital deficiency (17,541) (17,429)  

Ulric Leung Yuk Lun Douglas Craham Morin
Director Director

The notes on pages 40 to 122 form part of these financial statements.
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2012 2011
Notes US$’000 US$’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets
Interests in subsidiaries 16 13,511 9,536

Current assets
Other receivables 24 54
Cash and cash equivalents 24 62 4,916  

86 4,970  

Current liabilities
Other payables 629 646
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 28 5,942 –
Convertible bonds 29 25,112 –  

31,683 646  

Net current (liabilities)/assets (31,597) 4,324  

Total assets less current liabilities (18,086) 13,860  

Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 28 97 9,262
Convertible bonds 29 – 26,573
Borrowings 26 961 950  

1,058 36,785  

Net liabilities (19,144) (22,925)  

EQUITY

Share capital 30 1,378 9,812
Reserves 31 (20,522) (32,737)  

Capital deficiency (19,144) (22,925)  

Ulric Leung Yuk Lun Douglas Craham Morin
Director Director

The notes on pages 40 to 122 form part of these financial statements.
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Capital deficiency attributable to owners of the Company

Non-

controlling

interests

Capital

deficiency         

Share

capital

*Share

premium

*Capital

reserve

*Capital

redemption

reserve

*Employee

share-based

compensation

reserve

*Investment

revaluation

reserve

*Foreign

exchange

reserve

*Accumulated

losses Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

At 1 January 2011 4,906 108,221 271 77 6,903 191 – (136,934) (16,365) 1,409 (14,956)

Employee share-based 

compensation – – – – 131 – – – 131 4 135

Issue of shares as a result of 

rights issue (Note 30 (b)(i)) 4,906 126 – – – – – – 5,032 – 5,032

Shares issue costs – (404) – – – – – – (404) – (404)           

Transactions with owners 4,906 (278) – – 131 – – – 4,759 4 4,763           

Loss for the year – – – – – – – (6,294) (6,294) (992) (7,286)

Other comprehensive 

income:

Available-for-sale 

investments

Surplus on revaluation – – – – – 57 – – 57 – 57

Recycle to income 

statement:

Provision for 

impairment – – – – – 4 – – 4 – 4

Gain upon disposal – – – – – (15) – – (15) – (15)

Exchange differences 

on translating foreign 

operations – – – – – – 4 – 4 – 4           

Total comprehensive income 

for the year – – – – – 46 4 (6,294) (6,244) (992) (7,236)           

At 31 December 2011 9,812 107,943 271 77 7,034 237 4 (143,228) (17,850) 421 (17,429)           
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Capital deficiency attributable to owners of the Company

Non-

controlling

interests

Capital

deficiency         

Share

capital

*Share

premium

*Capital

reserve

*Capital

redemption

reserve

*Employee

share-based

compensation

reserve

*Investment

revaluation

reserve

*Foreign

exchange

reserve

*Accumulated

losses Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

At 1 January 2012 9,812 107,943 271 77 7,034 237 4 (143,228) (17,850) 421 (17,429)

Employee share-based 

compensation – – – – 253 – – – 253 – 253

Lapse of share options – – – – (166) – – 166 – – –

Repurchase of share options – – – – (2,691) – – 2,674 (17) – (17)

Issue of shares upon 

conversion of bonds

(Note 30(d)) 3,764 696 – – – – – – 4,460 – 4,460

Capital reduction

(Note 30(c)(ii)) (12,218) (108,639) – – – – – 120,857 – – –

Issue of shares upon exercise 

of warrants (Note 30(e)) 20 438 – – – – – – 458 – 458           

Transactions with owners (8,434) (107,505) – – (2,604) – – 123,697 5,154 – 5,154           

Loss for the year – – – – – – – (4,900) (4,900) (349) (5,249)

Other comprehensive 

income:

Available-for-sale 

investments

Deficit on revaluation – – – – – (19) – – (19) – (19)

Exchange differences 

on translating foreign 

operations – – – – – – 2 – 2 – 2           

Total comprehensive income 

for the year – – – – – (19) 2 (4,900) (4,917) (349) (5,266)           

At 31 December 2012 1,378 438 271 77 4,430 218 6 (24,431) (17,613) 72 (17,541)           

* The total of these reserves amounts to a deficiency of US$18,991,000 (2011: US$27,662,000).

 The notes on pages 40 to 122 form part of these financial statements.
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(Restated)
2012 2011

Note US$’000 US$’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Continuing operations
Cash outflow from operations 36 (2,995) (1,971)
Tax paid – (359)
Tax refund 195 –  

Net cash outflow from operating activities from
continuing operations (2,800) (2,330)  

Discontinued operations
Net cash outflow from operating activities from

discontinued operations (998) (1,917)  

Net cash outflow from operating activities (3,798) (4,247)  

Cash flows from investing activities
Continuing operations
Acquisition of trademarks (106) (4)
Dividend received from available-for-sale investments 51 3
Bank interest received 1 1
Other interest received 46 –
Proceeds from disposals of available-for-sale investments – 20
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment 10 199
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (215) (9,726)
Issuance of notes receivable (3,108) –
Repayment from note receivable 544 5  

Net cash outflow from investing activities from
continuing operations (2,777) (9,502)  

Discontinued operations
Net cash outflow from investing activities from

discontinued operations (106) (5)  

Net cash outflow from investing activities (2,883) (9,507)  
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(Restated)
2012 2011

Notes US$’000 US$’000

Cash flows from financing activities
Continuing operations
Drawdown of bank loan – 3,846
Proceeds from exercise of warrants 30(e) 288 –
Net proceeds from issue of convertible bonds 29 – 11,452
Net proceeds from issue of redeemable convertible 

preference shares 27 – 1,005
Proceeds from issue of shares 30(b)(i) – 5,032
Shares issue costs – (404)
Interest paid on bank loan (55) (37)
Repayment of bank loan (232) (153)
Interest paid on note payable – (45)
Prepayment of note payable – (3,527)
Advance of other loan 1,923 –  

Net cash inflow from financing activities from
continuing operations 1,924 17,169  

Net cash inflow from financing activities 1,924 17,169  

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (4,757) 3,415
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations, net 4 (3)
Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January 7,774 4,362  

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 3,021 7,774  

Analysed into:
Continuing operations 2,867 6,515
Discontinued operations 154 1,259  

Total 3,021 7,774  

The notes on pages 40 to 122 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012

1. GENERAL INFORMATION
The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 21 February 2000 as an exempted company 
with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) 
of the Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins 
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and, its principal place of business is 
Unit 502, 5th Floor, AXA Centre, 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares 
have been listed on The Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 17 April 2000.

The Company acts as the holding company of the Group. The Group is principally engaged in the 
businesses of asset management and direct investment. Details of principal activities of its principal 
subsidiaries are set out in Note 39 to the financial statements.

The audited consolidated financial statements on pages 30 to 122 have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) which collective term includes all 
applicable individual International Financial Reporting Standards and Interpretations approved by 
the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and all applicable individual International 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations as originated by the Board of the International 
Accounting Standards Committee and adopted by IASB. The financial statements also comply with 
the applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the Rules 
Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (“GEM Listing Rules”).

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012 were approved by the Board of 
Directors on 14 March 2013.

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED IFRSs
In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the following new standards, 
amendments and interpretations (the “new IFRSs”), which are relevant to and effective for the 
consolidated financial statements for the annual period beginning on 1 January 2012:

(a) Adoption of amendments to IFRSs – first effective on 1 January 2012
Amendments to IFRS 7 Disclosures – Transfers of Financial Assets
Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax – Recovery of Underlying Assets

The adoption of these amendments has no material impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED IFRSs (continued)
(b) New or amended IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective

The Group has not applied the following new or amended IFRSs, that have been issued, but are 
not yet effective in these financial statements.

IFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements 2009–2011 Cycle2

Amendments to IAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income1

Amendments to IAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities3

Amendments to IFRS 1 Government Loans2

Amendments to IFRS 7 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities2

Amendments to IFRS 10, 
IFRS 12 and IAS 27 (2011)

Investment Entities3

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments4

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements2

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements2

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities2

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement2

IAS 19 (2011) Employee Benefits2

IAS 27 (2011) Separate Financial Statements2

IAS 28 (2011) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures2

IFRIC – Interpretation 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of 
a Surface Mine2

 
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015

Information on new or amended IFRSs that is potentially relevant to the Group’s financial 
statements is as follows:

Amendments to IAS 1 (Revised) – Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income
The amendments to IAS 1 (Revised) require the Group to separate items presented in other 
comprehensive income into those that may be reclassified to profit and loss in the future (e.g. 
revaluations of available-for-sale financial assets) and those that may not (e.g. revaluations of 
property, plant and equipment). Tax on items of other comprehensive income is allocated and 
disclosed on the same basis. The amendments will be applied retrospectively.
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED IFRSs (continued)
(b) New or amended IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective 

(continued)
Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 (2011) – Investment Entities
The amendments apply to a particular class of businesses that qualify as investment entities. 
An investment entity’s business purpose is to invest funds solely for returns from capital 
appreciation, investment income or both. It evaluates the performance of its investments on a 
fair value basis. Investment entities could include private equity organisations, venture capital 
organisations, pension funds and investment funds.

The amendments provide an exception to the consolidation requirements in IFRS 10 
Consolidated Financial Statements and require investment entities to measure particular 
subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss rather than to consolidate them. The amendments 
also set out the disclosure requirements for investment entities. The amendments are applied 
retrospectively subject to certain transitional provisions.

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (as issued in November 2009) introduces new requirements for the 
classification and measurement of financial assets. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (as revised in 
November 2010) adds requirements for financial liabilities and for derecognition.

Under IFRS 9, all recognised financial assets that are within the scope of IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are subsequently measured at either amortised 
cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within a business model whose 
objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally measured 
at amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. All other debt investments 
and equity investments are measured at their fair values at the end of subsequent accounting 
periods.

In relation to financial liabilities, the significant change relates to financial liabilities that 
are designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Specifically, under IFRS 9, for financial 
liabilities that are designed as at fair value through profit or loss, the amount of change in the 
fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is 
presented in other comprehensive income, unless the presentation of the effects of changes in 
the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting 
mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk are 
not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Currently, under IAS 39, the entire amount of the 
change in the fair value of the financial liability designated as at fair value through profit or loss 
is presented in profit or loss.

IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015, with earlier 
application permitted. The Directors anticipate that IFRS 9 will be adopted in the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements for the financial year ending 31 December 2015 and that the 
application of IFRS 9 may affect the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial 
assets and financial liabilities should such designation be made in the future.
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED IFRSs (continued)
(b) New or amended IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective 

(continued)
IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements
IFRS 10 introduces a single control model for consolidation of all investee entities. An investor 
has control when it has power over the investee (whether or not that power is used in practice), 
exposure or rights to variable returns from the investee and the ability to use the power over 
the investee to affect those returns. IFRS 10 contains extensive guidance on the assessment 
of control. For example, the standard introduces the concept of “de facto” control where an 
investor can control an investee while holding less than 50% of the investee’s voting rights in 
circumstances where its voting interest is of sufficiently dominant size relative to the size and 
dispersion of those of other individual shareholders to give it power over the investee. Potential 
voting rights are considered in the analysis of control only when these are substantive, i.e. the 
holder has the practical ability to exercise them. The standard explicitly requires an assessment 
of whether an investor with decision making rights is acting as principal or agent and also 
whether other parties with decision making rights are acting as agents of the investor. An agent 
is engaged to act on behalf of and for the benefit of another party and therefore does not 
control the investee when it exercises its decision making authority. The implementation of IFRS 
10 may result in changes in those entities which are regarded as being controlled by the Group 
and are therefore consolidated in the financial statements. The accounting requirements in the 
existing IAS 27 on other consolidation related matters are carried forward unchanged. IFRS 10 is 
applied retrospectively subject to certain transitional provisions.

IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements
Joint arrangements under IFRS 11 have the same basic characteristics as joint ventures under 
IAS 31. Joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures. Where the 
Group has rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities of the joint arrangement, it is 
regarded as a joint operator and will recognise its interests in the assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses arising from the joint arrangement. Where the Group has rights to the net assets of 
the joint arrangement as a whole, it is regarded as having an interest in a joint venture and will 
apply the equity method of accounting. IFRS 11 does not allow proportionate consolidation. 
In an arrangement structured through a separate vehicle, all relevant facts and circumstances 
should be considered to determine whether the parties to the arrangement have rights to the 
net assets of the arrangement. Previously, the existence of a separate legal entity was the key 
factor in determining the existence of a jointly controlled entity under IAS 31. IFRS 11 will be 
applied retrospectively with specific restatement requirements for a joint venture which changes 
from proportionate consolidation to the equity method and a joint operation which changes 
from equity method to accounting for assets and liabilities.
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED IFRSs (continued)
(b) New or amended IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective 

(continued)
IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
IFRS 12 integrates and makes consistent the disclosures requirements about interests in 
subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements. It also introduces new disclosure requirements, 
including those related to unconsolidated structured entities. The general objective of the 
standard is to enable users of financial statements to evaluate the nature and risks of a reporting 
entity’s interests in other entities and the effects of those interests on the reporting entity’s 
financial statements.

IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement
IFRS 13 provides a single source of guidance on how to measure fair value when it is required 
or permitted by other standards. The standard applies to both financial and non-financial items 
measured at fair value and introduces a fair value measurement hierarchy. The definitions of 
the three levels in this measurement hierarchy are generally consistent with IFRS 7 “Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures”. IFRS 13 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell 
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at 
the measurement date (i.e. an exit price). The standard removes the requirement to use bid 
and ask prices for financial assets and liabilities quoted in an active market. Rather the price 
within the bid-ask spread that is most representative of fair value in the circumstances should 
be used. It also contains extensive disclosure requirements to allow users of the financial 
statements to assess the methods and inputs used in measuring fair values and the effects of fair 
value measurements on the financial statements. IFRS 13 can be adopted early and is applied 
prospectively.

IFRSs (Amendments) – Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle
The improvements made amendments to the following standards:

(i) IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment
The amendments clarify that items such as spare parts, stand-by equipment and servicing 
equipment are recognised as property, plant and equipment when they meet the definition 
of property, plant and equipment. Otherwise, such items are classified as inventory.

(ii) IAS 32 – Financial Instruments: Presentation
The amendments clarify that income tax relating to distributions to holders of an equity 
instrument and to transaction costs of an equity transaction should be accounted for in 
accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes. Depending on the circumstances these items of 
income tax might be recognised in equity, other comprehensive income or in profit or loss.

(iii) IAS 34 – Interim Financial Reporting
The amendments clarifies that in interim financial statements, a measure of total assets and 
liabilities for a particular reportable segment need to be disclosed when the amounts are 
regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker and there has been a material 
change in the total assets and liabilities for that segment from the amount disclosed in the 
last annual financial statements.

Except for IFRS 9, the Directors anticipated that the application of other new or amended IFRSs 
will have no material impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Basis of preparation

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these financial 
statements are summarised below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the 
years presented unless otherwise stated. The adoption of new or amended IFRSs and the 
impacts on the financial statements, if any, are disclosed in Note 2 to the financial statements.

The audited consolidated financial statements have been prepared under historical cost basis 
except for certain financial instruments classified as available-for-sale and at fair value through 
profit or loss, which are measured at fair value. The measurement bases are fully described in 
the accounting policies below.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors have considered the operations of the 
Group as a going concern notwithstanding the Group had net current liabilities approximately 
of US$30,831,000 (2011: net current assets of US$7,343,000) and a capital deficiency of 
approximately US$17,541,000 (2011: US$17,429,000) as at 31 December 2012, the Group 
incurred a loss of approximately US$5,249,000 (2011: US$7,286,000) for the year and the 
Company had net current liabilities of approximately US$31,597,000 (2011: net current assets 
of approximately US$4,324,000) and a capital deficiency of approximately US$19,144,000 (2011: 
US$22,925,000) as at 31 December 2012. These conditions indicate the existence of a material 
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern and therefore, the Group and the Company may not be able to 
realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

The Directors have prepared the financial statements based on the assumption that the Group 
can continue as a going concern and are of the view that the Group will have sufficient working 
capital and financial resources to finance its operations for twelve months from the end of the 
reporting period, after taking into consideration the following:

(i) Without changing the terms, majority of the holders of the Company’s convertible bonds 
have indicated that they have no intention of considering exercising their early redemption 
options on 4 October 2013;

(ii) The Group continues to implement measures to tighten cost controls over various 
administrative expenses and to attain positive cash flow operations through a new wholly 
owned subsidiary, Crosby Securities Limited, after obtaining the related licenses from 
the Securities and Futures Commission, engaging in brokerage and investment advisory 
services;

(iii) A substantial shareholder of the Company has undertaken to provide financial support to 
the Group when necessary; and

(iv) The Group might consider additional financing by way of new shares issue or other means.

Having regard to the cash flow projection of the Group, which has been prepared assuming no 
early redemption of convertible bonds, successful cost control measures, favourable brokerage 
and investment advisory income from Crosby Securities Limited and the possible placement of 
the Company’s shares to raise fund, the Directors of the Company are of the opinion that, in 
the light of the measures taken to date, together with the expected results of other measures 
in progress, the Group will have sufficient working capital and financial resources to satisfy its 
future working capital and other financing requirements for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, 
the Directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a 
going concern basis and are satisfied that the Group will have sufficient working capital and 
financial resources to finance its operations for twelve months from the end of the reporting 
period.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

Should the Group be unable to generate sufficient cash flows and/or the convertible bond 
holders exercise the early redemption on 4 October 2013, the Group might not be able to 
continue in business as a going concern. Accordingly, adjustments would have to be made in 
the financial statements to restate the values of the assets to their recoverable amounts, to 
provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and 
non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities respectively. The effect of these 
adjustments has not been reflected in the financial statements.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions are used in preparation of the 
financial statements. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge 
and judgement of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those 
estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are set out in Note 4 to 
the financial statements.

(b) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries (“the Group”). Inter-company transactions and balances between group companies 
together with unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial 
statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of 
impairment on the asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the effective dates of acquisition or up 
to the effective dates of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made to 
the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those 
used by other members of the Group.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are 
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest and the 
non-controlling interest are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the 
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interest is 
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity 
and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the 
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the 
fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including 
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. Amounts previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the 
same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests that represent 
present ownership interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those interests at initial 
recognition plus the non-controlling interest’s share of subsequent changes in equity. Total 
comprehensive income is attributed to such non-controlling interests even if this results in the 
non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.



Annual Report 2012 47

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(c) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has the power to control the financial and 
operating policies so as to obtain benefits from their activities. The existence and effect of 
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when 
assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the 
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are excluded from consolidation from 
the date that control ceases.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in subsidiaries are classified 
as available-for-sale investments under IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement” and are stated at fair value. For investments in subsidiaries that do not have a 
quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, they 
are stated at cost less any identified impairment losses at each reporting date subsequent to 
initial recognition. Details of the accounting policies in subsequent measurement of available-
for-sale investments are set out in Note 3(h)(i) to the financial statements.

(d) Associates and jointly controlled entities
An associate is an entity over which the Group is able to exert significant influence, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of voting rights but which is neither a 
subsidiary nor jointly controlled entity.

A jointly controlled entity is an entity which operates under a contractual arrangement whereby 
the Group and other parties undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint control and 
exists only when the strategic, financial and operating decision relating to the activity require 
the unanimous consent of the venturers.

In the consolidated financial statements, the Group’s interests in associates or jointly controlled 
entities are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition changes 
in the Group’s share of the results and movements of reserves of the associates or jointly 
controlled entities. The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition, post-tax results for the year, including any impairment loss on goodwill relating 
to the interests in associates or jointly controlled entities and movements of reserves of the 
associates or jointly controlled entities on an equity accounting basis. Any goodwill or fair value 
adjustment attributable to the share in the associates or jointly controlled entities is included in 
the amount recognised as interests in associates or jointly controlled entities.

The goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed 
for impairment as part of the interests. After the application of equity method, the Group 
determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional impairment loss on the Group’s 
interests in its associates or jointly controlled entities. At each reporting date, the Group 
determines whether there is any objective evidence that the interests in associates or jointly 
controlled entities are impaired. If such indications are identified, the Group calculates 
the amount of impairment as being the difference between the recoverable amount of the 
associates or jointly controlled entities and its carrying amount.

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with associates or jointly controlled entities are 
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests in the associates or jointly controlled entities. 
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that 
there is no evidence of impairment.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(d) Associates and jointly controlled entities (continued)

When the Group’s share of losses in the associates or jointly controlled entities equals or 
exceeds its interests in the associates or jointly controlled entities, the Group does not 
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made 
payments on behalf of the associates or jointly controlled entities. For this purpose, the Group’s 
interests in associates or jointly controlled entities are the carrying amounts of the investments 
under the equity method together with the Group’s long-term interests that in substance form 
part of the Group’s net investment in the associates or jointly controlled entities.

(e) Property, plant and equipment
(i) Measurement bases

Leasehold land and buildings
The land and building elements of a lease of land and buildings are considered separately 
for the purpose of lease classification, unless the lease payments cannot be allocated 
reliably between the land and building elements, in which case, the entire lease is generally 
treated as a finance lease and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses. The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any directly 
attributable costs of bringing the asset to the working condition and location for its 
intended use. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised 
as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. All other costs, such as repairs and maintenance, are charged to the income 
statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

The gain or loss arising from retirement or disposal is determined as the difference 
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the assets, and is recognised in the 
income statement.

(ii) Depreciation
Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment less their 
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, at the 
following rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings 2% or over the terms of the lease, whichever is shorter
Computer hardware and software 331/3%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Leasehold improvements 20% or over the terms of the lease, whichever is shorter
Motor vehicles 25%
Office equipment 331/3%

The assets’ residual values, depreciation method and useful lives are reviewed, and 
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(f) Leases

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions, is or contains a lease if the 
Group determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets for an 
agreed period of time in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such a determination is 
made based on an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is regardless of whether 
the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

(i) Classification of assets leased to the Group
Assets that are held by the Group under leases which transfer to the Group substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as being held under finance leases. Leases 
which do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group are 
classified as operating leases.

(ii) Assets acquired under finance leases
Where the Group acquires the use of assets under f inance leases, the amounts 
representing the fair value of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present value of the 
minimum lease payments, of such assets, are included in property, plant and equipment 
and the corresponding liabilities, net of finance charges, are recorded as obligation under 
finance leases.

Subsequent accounting for assets held under finance lease agreements corresponds to 
those applied to comparable acquired assets. The corresponding finance lease liability is 
reduced by lease payments less finance charges.

Finance charges implicit in the lease payments are charged to income statement over the 
period of the leases so as to produce an approximately constant periodic rate of charge on 
the remaining balance of the obligations for each accounting period. Contingent rentals 
are charged to the income statement in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

(iii) Operating lease charges as the lessee
Where the Group has the rights to use of assets held under operating leases, payments 
made under the leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over 
the lease terms except where an alternative basis is more representative of the time pattern 
of benefits to be derived from the leased assets. Lease incentives received are recognised 
in the income statement as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made. 
Contingent rentals are charged to the income statement in the accounting period in which 
they are incurred.



Crosby Capital Limited50

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(g) Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in United States Dollars, which is also the functional 
currency of the Company.

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated entities, foreign currency transactions 
are translated into the functional currency of the individual entity using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at year-end exchange rates are recognised in the income 
statement.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined and are 
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial statements of foreign operations 
originally presented in a currency different from the Group’s presentation currency, have been 
converted into United States Dollars. Assets and liabilities have been translated into United 
States Dollars at the closing rates at the reporting date. Income and expenses have been 
converted into the United States Dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates, or 
at the average rates over the reporting period provided that the exchange rates do not fluctuate 
significantly. Any differences arising from this procedure have been recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in the foreign exchange reserve in equity. 
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation have been 
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated into United States Dollars 
at the closing rates.

When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are reclassified from equity to 
profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on sale.

(h) Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and financial 
liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets 
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the 
fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. 
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities 
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in the income statement.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(h) Financial instruments (continued)

(i) Financial assets
The Group classifies its financial assets other than hedging instruments into one of the 
following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale 
investments and loans and receivables. Regular way purchases or sales of financial assets 
are recognised on trade date. Management determines the classification of its financial 
assets at initial recognition depending on the purpose for which the financial assets were 
acquired and where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at every 
reporting date. The accounting policies adopted for each category are set out below.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading 
and financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. 
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of 
selling in the near term, or it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that 
are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent pattern of short-term 
profit-taking. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives are also classified as 
held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments or financial 
guarantee contracts.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives, the entire hybrid contract 
may be designated as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss, except where 
the embedded derivative does not significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear that 
separation of the embedded derivative is prohibited.

Financial assets may be designated at initial recognition as at fair value through profit or 
loss if the following criteria are met:

– the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that 
would otherwise arise from measuring the assets or recognising gains or losses on 
them on a different basis; or

– the assets are part of a group of financial assets which are managed and their 
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk 
management strategy and information about the group of financial assets is provided 
internally on that basis to the key management personnel; or

– the financial asset contains an embedded derivative that would need to be separately 
recorded.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the financial assets included in this category are 
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the income statement. 
Fair value is determined by reference to active market transactions or using a valuation 
technique where no active market exists. Fair value gain or loss does not include any 
dividend or interest earned on these financial assets. Dividend and interest income is 
recognised in accordance with the Group’s policies in Note 3(o) to the financial statements.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(h) Financial instruments (continued)

(i) Financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale investments
Available-for-sale investments include non-derivative financial assets that do not qualify 
for inclusion in any of the other categories of financial assets. All financial assets within 
this category are subsequently measured at fair value. The gain or loss arising from a 
change in fair value, excluding any dividend and interest income, is recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in the investment revaluation reserve 
in equity, except for impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary 
assets, until the financial asset is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or 
loss previously recognised in equity is reclassified from equity to profit or loss. Interest 
calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in the income statement.

The fair value of available-for-sale monetary assets denominated in a foreign currency is 
determined in that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the reporting date. 
The change in fair value attributable to translation differences that result from a change in 
amortised cost of the asset is recognised in the income statement, and other changes are 
recognised in other comprehensive income.

When a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale investment has been recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity and there is objective evidence 
that the asset is impaired, an amount is removed from equity and recognised in the income 
statement as an impairment loss. That amount is measured as the difference between 
the asset’s acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and amortisation) and current 
fair value, less any impairment loss on that asset previously recognised in the income 
statement.

Reversals of impairment losses in respect of investments in equity instruments classified as 
available-for-sale and stated at fair value are not recognised in the income statement. The 
subsequent increase in fair value is recognised in the other comprehensive income.

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an 
active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are 
linked to and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity instruments, they are 
measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at each reporting date subsequent 
to initial recognition. Such impairment loss will not reverse in subsequent periods.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(h) Financial instruments (continued)

(i) Financial assets (continued)
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. Amortised 
cost is calculated taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes 
fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate and transaction cost.

Impairment losses on loans and receivables are provided for when objective evidence is 
received that the Group will not be able to collect amounts due to it in accordance with 
the original terms of the receivables. The amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred, discounted at the financial 
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial 
recognition). The amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement for the period 
in which the impairment occurs.

Objective evidence of impairment of individual financial assets includes observable data 
that comes to the attention of the Group about one or more of the following loss events:

– Significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

– A breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

– It becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation; and

– Significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that 
have an adverse effect on the debtor.

Loss events in respect of a group of financial assets include observable data indicating 
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from the group of 
financial assets. Such observable data includes but not limited to adverse changes in the 
payment status of debtors in the group and, national or local economic conditions that 
correlate with defaults on the assets in the group.

If, in subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that it does not result in 
a carrying amount of the financial asset exceeding what the amortised cost would have 
been had the impairment not been recognised at the date the impairment is reversed. The 
amount of the reversal is recognised in the income statement in the period in which the 
reversal occurs.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(h) Financial instruments (continued)

(ii) Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified according 
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of 
a financial liability and an equity instrument. An equity instrument is any contract that 
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. 
The accounting policies adopted in respect of financial liabilities and equity instruments 
are set out below.

Finance lease liabilities
Finance lease liabilities are measured at the initial fair value of the leased asset or, if 
lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments less the capital element of lease 
repayments (see Note 3(f) to the financial statements).

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include embedded derivatives which 
have been separated from their host contracts and financial liabilities that are designated 
by the Group to be carried at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives, the entire hybrid contract 
may be designated as a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss, except where 
the embedded derivative does not significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear that 
separation of the embedded derivative is prohibited.

Financial liabilities may be designated at initial recognition as at fair value through profit or 
loss if the following criteria are met:

– the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that 
would otherwise arise from measuring the liabilities or recognising gains or losses on 
them on a different basis; or

– the liabilities are part of a group of financial liabilities which are managed and their 
performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk 
management strategy; or

– the financial liability contains an embedded derivative that would need to be 
separately recorded.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the financial liabilities included in this category are 
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the income statement. 
Financial liabilities originally designated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss may not subsequently be reclassified.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(h) Financial instruments (continued)

(ii) Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Convertible bonds
Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain both liability and conversion option 
components are classified separately into their respective items on initial recognition. 
Conversion option that will be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of 
cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments 
is a conversion option derivative. At the date of issue, the conversion option derivative is 
recognised at fair value. Any excess of proceeds over the amount initially recognised as the 
derivative component is recognised as liability.

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the convertible bond is carried at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, until extinguished on conversion or 
maturity. The conversion option derivative is measured at fair value with changes in fair 
value recognised in profit or loss.

When the bonds are converted, the carrying amount of the liability portion together with 
the fair value of the conversion derivative at the time of conversion are transferred to share 
capital and share premium as consideration for the shares issued. When the bonds are 
redeemed, the difference between the redemption amount and the carrying amounts of 
both components is recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the bonds are allocated amongst the liability 
component and the conversion option derivative in proportion to the allocation of the 
proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the liability component are included in the carrying 
amount of the liability portion and amortised over the period of the bonds using the 
effective interest method. Transaction costs relating to the conversion option derivative are 
expensed as incurred.

Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. 
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between the 
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss 
over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right 
to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(h) Financial instruments (continued)

(ii) Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Redeemable convertible preference shares
Redeemable convertible preference shares issued by the Group that contain both liability 
and conversion option components are classified separately into their respective items on 
initial recognition. Conversion option that will be settled other than by the exchange of a 
fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own 
equity instruments is a conversion option derivative. At the date of issue, the conversion 
option derivative is recognised at fair value. Any excess of proceeds over the amount 
initially recognised as the derivative component is recognised as liability.

Preference shares, which are redeemable on a specific date or at the option of the 
shareholders, are classified as liabilities.

In subsequent periods, the liability component is carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, until extinguished on conversion or maturity. The conversion 
option derivative is measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or 
loss.

When the preference shares are converted, the carrying amount of the liability portion 
together with the fair value of the conversion derivative at the time of conversion are 
transferred to share capital and share premium as consideration for the shares issued. 
When the preference shares are redeemed, the difference between the redemption 
amount and the carrying amounts of both components is recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the redeemable convertible preference 
shares are allocated to the liability and conversion option components in proportion to 
the allocation of proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the conversion option derivative 
is recognised in profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs relating to the liability 
component are included in the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised over 
the period of the preference shares using the effective interest method.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities include other payables and are recognised initially at fair value 
and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of 
direct issue costs.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(h) Financial instruments (continued)

(ii) Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Financial guarantee contracts
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified 
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to 
make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt 
instrument. A financial guarantee contract issued by the Group and not designated as at 
fair value through profit or loss is recognised initially at its fair value less transaction costs 
that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial guarantee contract. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher 
of: (i) the amount determined in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent Assets; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, 
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with IAS 18 Revenue.

(iii) Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the future 
cash flows in relation to the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has been 
transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in accordance with IAS 39.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant contract 
is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments to a creditor to settle a financial 
liability in whole or in part as a result of renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity 
instruments issued are the consideration paid and are recognised initially and measured at 
their fair value on the date the financial liability or part thereof is extinguished. If the fair 
value of the equity instruments issued cannot be reliably measured, the equity instruments 
are measured to reflect the fair value of the financial liability extinguished. The difference 
between the carrying amount of the financial liability or part thereof extinguished and the 
consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss for the year.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
comprise cash in hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that 
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value and have a short maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less 
bank overdrafts which are payable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash 
management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 
in hand and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not 
restricted as to use.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(j) Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being the excess of the aggregate of consideration 
transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interests over the fair value of 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceed the fair 
value of consideration paid, the excess is recognised in profit or loss on the acquisition date, 
after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, 
goodwill arising from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating units 
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating unit to 
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an 
indication that the unit may be impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the cash-generating unit to which 
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that financial year. When 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, 
the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the 
unit first, and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount to 
each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is not 
reversed in subsequent periods.

(k) Intangible assets
(i) Contract-based intangible

The fair value of acquired non-compete contract is capitalised and, subject to impairment 
reviews, amortised over the useful life of the non-compete contract acquired. The 
amortisation is calculated so as to write off the fair value of the non-compete contract less 
its estimated residual value, over its estimated useful life of 2 years. An impairment review 
of non-compete contract is undertaken when events or circumstances indicate the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable.

(ii) Trademarks
Expenditure on acquired trademarks is capitalised and is not amortised over the useful life, 
which is indefinite for the following reasons:

– it is capable of being renewed indefinitely at insignificant cost; and

– there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate 
net cash flows, based on an analysis of all of the relevant factors.

An impairment review of trademarks is undertaken annual ly or when events or 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(l) Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment, interests in subsidiaries, interests in jointly controlled entities, 
goodwill and other intangible assets are subject to impairment testing.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which 
there are separately identifiable cash inflows (cash-generating units). As a result, some assets 
are tested individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level. 
Goodwill in particular is allocated to those cash-generating units that are expected to benefit 
from synergies of the related business combination and represent the lowest level within the 
Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purpose.

Individual assets or cash-generating units that include goodwill and other intangible assets with 
an indefinite useful life are tested for impairment at least annually, irrespective of whether there 
is any indication that they are impaired. All other individual assets or cash-generating units are 
tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately for the amount by which the 
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs to sell 
and value in use, based on an internal discounted cash flow evaluation. Impairment losses 
recognised for cash-generating units, to which goodwill has been allocated, are credited initially 
to the carrying amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the 
other assets in the cash generating unit except that the carrying value of an asset will not be 
reduced below its individual fair value less cost to sell, or value in use, if determinable.

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. In respect of other 
assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates 
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent that the asset’s 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Income taxes

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary activities adjusted for items that are non-
assessable or disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated using tax rates that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used 
for tax purposes. Except for goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities that affect neither 
accounting nor taxable profits, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates appropriate to the expected manner in which the 
carrying amount of the asset or liability is realised or settled and that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments 
in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities, except where the Group is able to control the 
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when they relate to items recognised 
in other comprehensive income in which case the taxes are also recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

(n) Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is determined using the nominal value of 
shares that have been issued. Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares are 
deducted from share premium (net of any related income tax benefit) to the extent they are 
incremental costs directly attributable to the equity transaction.



Annual Report 2012 61

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(o) Revenue recognition

Revenue, which is the fair value of consideration received or receivable, is recognised when it 
is probable that economic benefits will flow to the Group, when the revenue can be measured 
reliably, and the stage of completion of the transaction and the costs incurred for the 
transaction as well as the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably, and on the 
following bases:

– Fund management fee income is recognised in accordance with the substance of the 
relevant agreements.

– Wealth management services fee income is recognised when the wealth management 
services have been rendered, which is normally as the services are provided.

– Management fee income, included in other income, is recognised as the services are 
provided.

– Interest income is recognised as it accrues, taking into account the effective yield on the 
asset.

– Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

The policies on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are dealt with in Note 3(h)(i) to 
the financial statements.

(p) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs attributable directly to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets which require a substantial period of time to be ready for their intended use or sale, 
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. Income earned on temporary investments 
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on those assets is deducted from borrowing 
costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which 
they are incurred.

(q) Employee benefits
(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to long service payment and annual leave are recognised when 
they accrue to employees. Provision is made for the estimated liabilities for long service 
payment and annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the 
reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences are not recognised until the time of leave.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(q) Employee benefits (continued)

(ii) Retirement benefit schemes
The Group participates in the following retirement benefit schemes and pays contributions 
to independently administered funds on a mandatory or contractual basis. The assets of 
these schemes are held separately from those of the Group in independently administered 
funds. The retirement benefit schemes are generally funded by payments from employees 
and by the relevant Group companies. The Group has no further payment obligations once 
the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit 
expense on accrual basis.

All eligible employees have participated in the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme 
(“MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong. Under the MPF Scheme, the eligible employees are 
required to contribute 5% of their relevant income with a maximum monthly contribution 
of HK$1,000 and HK$1,250 before and after the contribution period commencing from 
1 June 2012 respectively and the Group’s contribution will be 5% of the relevant income 
with a maximum monthly contribution of HK$1,000 and HK$1,250 before and after the 
contribution period commencing from 1 June 2012 respectively. There is no voluntary 
contribution from the Group nor the employees and there are no other legal or constructive 
obligations to the Group.

(iii) Share-based employee compensation
All share-based payment arrangements granted after 7 November 2002 that had not vested 
on 1 January 2005 are recognised in the financial statements. The Group operates equity-
settled share-based compensation plans to remunerate its employees and directors.

All employee services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based compensation 
are measured at their fair values. These are indirectly determined by reference to the fair 
value of the share options awarded. Their value is appraised at the grant date and excludes 
the impact of any non-market vesting conditions.

All share-based compensation is ultimately recognised as an expense in the income 
statement unless it qualifies for recognition as asset, with a corresponding credit to 
employee share-based compensation reserve in equity. If vesting periods or other vesting 
conditions apply, the expense is allocated over the vesting period, based on the best 
available estimate of the number of share options expected to vest. Non-market vesting 
conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to 
become exercisable. Estimates are subsequently revised, if there is any indication that the 
number of share options expected to vest differs from previous estimates. No adjustment 
to expense recognised in prior periods is made if fewer share options ultimately are 
exercised than vested.

Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received net of any directly attributable 
transaction costs up to the nominal value of the shares issued are allocated to share capital 
and the amount previously recognised in employee share-based compensation reserve will 
be transferred out with any excess being recorded as share premium.

When the share options have vested and then lapsed, the amount previously recognised 
in the employee share-based compensation reserve is transferred to the retained profits or 
accumulated losses.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(q) Employee benefits (continued)

(iv) Bonus plans
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses where contractually obliged or 
where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

(v) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the Group demonstrably 
commits itself to terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary 
redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is without realistic possibility of 
withdrawal.

(r) Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. 
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the 
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount 
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the 
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will 
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future uncertain events 
not wholly within control of the Group are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the 
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(s) Related parties

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel of the Group or the Company’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each 
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint 
venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the 
third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the employees of the 
Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of 
key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to 
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(t) Segment information

In identifying the Group’s operating segments, the management generally follows the Group’s 
service lines which represent the main service lines provided by the Group.

The Group has identified the following reportable operating segments:

(i) Asset Management – provision of fund management, asset management and wealth 
management services. Wealth management business ceased on 28 September 2012 and 
the comparative figures were re-presented as discontinued operations.

(ii) Direct Investment – holding of available-for-sale investments (excluding investments in 
funds managed by the Group), loans to investee and related companies and financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss.

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each of them requires different 
resources. All inter-segment transfers are carried out at arms length prices.

The chief operating decision makers, which are collectively the four Executive Directors of the 
Company, assess the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of operating 
profit. The measurement policies the Group uses for reporting segment results under IFRS 8 are 
the same as those used in its financial statements prepared under IFRSs, except that:

• gain or loss on financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss;
• share of profits of jointly controlled entities accounted for using equity method;
• amortisation of intangible assets;
• finance costs;
• taxation; and
• certain other unallocated income and expenses.

are not included in arriving at the operating results of the operating segment.

Segment assets include all assets but interests in jointly controlled entities as well as corporate 
assets unrelated to the business activities of any operating segment.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.

(i) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next accounting year are discussed below:

Fair values of financial instruments
Financial instruments such as available-for-sale investments, financial assets and liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss, redeemable convertible preference shares and convertible 
bonds are initially measured at fair value. Certain financial instruments as described in Note 
3(h) to the financial statements are remeasured at fair value at subsequent reporting dates. 
The best evidence of fair value is quoted prices in an active market. Where quoted prices are 
not available for a particular financial instrument, the Group uses the values determined by the 
internal or external valuation techniques to estimate the fair value. The use of methodologies, 
models and assumptions in pricing and valuing these financial assets and liabilities requires 
varying degrees of judgement by management, which may result in different fair values and 
results. The assumptions with regard to the fair value of available-for-sale investments, financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss, redeemable convertible preference shares, financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and convertible bonds, detailed in Notes 19, 23, 27, 
28 and 29 to the financial statements respectively, have a risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next accounting year.

Valuations of share options granted
The fair value of share options granted was calculated using the Binomial Option Pricing Model 
which requires the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the volatility of the share 
price. Because changes in subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value 
estimate, in the opinion of the Directors of the Company, the existing model will not always 
necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of the share options. Details of the 
inputs are set out in Note 32 to the financial statements.

Impairment of assets
The Group conducts impairment reviews of assets when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable annually in accordance with 
relevant accounting standards. An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount 
of an asset is lower than the greater of its net selling price or the value in use. In determining 
the value in use, management assesses the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
expected to arise from the continuing use of the asset and from its disposal at the end of its 
useful life. Estimates and judgements are applied in determining these future cash flows and the 
discount rate.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)
(i) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (continued)

Impairment allowances on note receivables
The Group reviews the note receivables to assess whether impairment allowances exist. In 
determining whether impairment allowances should be recorded in the income statement, the 
Group makes judgements as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a 
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows. This evidence may include observable 
data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the viability of the borrower’s business. 
Management uses estimates based on the objective evidence of impairment when scheduling 
its future cash flows.

Impairment of trade and other receivables
Management determines impairment of trade and other receivables on a regular basis. A 
considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these 
receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the past collection history of each 
debtor. If the financial conditions of debtors of the Group were to deteriorate, resulting in an 
impairment of their ability to make payments, additional impairment may be required. Further 
information on the impairment of trade and other receivables is included in Note 22 to the 
financial statements.

Current taxation and deferred taxation
The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required 
in determining the amount of the provision for taxation and the timing of payment of the related 
taxation. Where the final tax outcome is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, 
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the periods in which 
the final tax outcome is determined.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain tax losses will be recognised when management 
considers it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary 
differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where the expectation is different from the original 
estimate, such difference will impact, where applicable and appropriate, the recognition of 
deferred tax assets and taxation in the periods in which such estimate is changed.

(ii) Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies
Going concern
The financial statements have been prepared on going concern basis, further details of which 
are provided in Note 3(a) to the financial statements.
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The revenues generated, profits/(losses) incurred from operations and total assets by each of 
the Group’s operating segments, which are detailed in Note 3(t) to the financial statements, are 
summarised as follows:

Asset management Direct investment Total
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Revenue from external customers
Continuing operations 2,481 4,318 – 5 2,481 4,323
Discontinued operations 354 1,308 – – 354 1,308      

2,835 5,626 – 5 2,835 5,631      
Inter-segment revenues

Continuing operations – – – – – –
Discontinued operations – – – – – –      

– – – – – –      

Total revenue 2,835 5,626 – 5 2,835 5,631      

Segment (loss)/profit from 
operations
Continuing operations (2,119) (601) 221 (87) (1,898) (688)
Discontinued operations (890) (2,148) – – (890) (2,148)      

Total segment (loss)/profit 
from operations (3,009) (2,749) 221 (87) (2,788) (2,836)      

Segment total assets 3,684 5,586 2,880 113 6,564 5,699      
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment loss from operations can be reconciled to consolidated loss from operations as follows:

Continuing operations Discontinued operations Total
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Segment loss from operations (1,898) (688) (890) (2,148) (2,788) (2,836)

Reconciling items:
Other income not allocated 77 55 – – 77 55
Gain on financial liabilities 

at fair value through
profit or loss 2,484 654 – – 2,484 654

Amortisation of intangible 
assets (569) (815) – – (569) (815)

Other expenses not allocated (3,265) (2,964) – – (3,265) (2,964)
Elimination of inter-segment 

revenue 1,160 1,159 – – 1,160 1,159      

Loss from operations (2,011) (2,599) (890) (2,148) (2,901) (4,747)

Finance costs (2,565) (2,535) – – (2,565) (2,535)
Share of profit of a jointly 

controlled entity 217 – – – 217 –      

Loss before taxation (4,359) (5,134) (890) (2,148) (5,249) (7,282)      

Segment total assets can be reconciled to consolidated total assets as follows:

2012 2011
US$’000 US$’000

Segment total assets 6,564 5,699

Reconciling item:
Other assets not allocated 15,529 19,997  

Total assets 22,093 25,696  
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Asset management Direct investment Other Total
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Other information

Continuing 
operations

Interest income (10) (1) (258) – (16) – (284) (1)
Gain on disposal of 

available-for-sale 
investments – – – (15) – – – (15)

Depreciation of 
property, plant 
and equipment 18 28 – – 535 385 553 413

Impairment of 
available-for-sale 
investments – 4 – – – – – 4

(Gain)/Loss on disposal 
of property, plant 
and equipment (2) 38 – – – – (2) 38

Share-based 
compensation 
expense 91 47 – – 162 78 253 125

Discontinued 
operations

Interest income – (1) – – – – – (1)
Depreciation of 

property, plant and 
equipment 45 81 – – – – 45 81

Loss on disposal of 
property, plant and 
equipment 95 – – – – – 95 –

Share-based 
compensation 
expense – 10 – – – – – 10        

The Group defines geographical information with reference to those revenue producing assets and 
transactions that arise from customers domiciled worldwide. Due to the nature of the business, 
precise segregation of geographical activities would be arbitrary and therefore considered not 
appropriate.
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6. REVENUE – CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the following:

(Restated)
2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

Fund management fee income 2,133 4,318
Others 348 5  

2,481 4,323  

7. OTHER INCOME – CONTINUING OPERATIONS

(Restated)
2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

Bad debts recovery on loan and other receivables – 81
Bank interest income 1 1
Dividend income 51 3
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2 –
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary – 5
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments – 15
Management fee income 13 46
Other interest income 283 –
Others 46 2  

396 153  

8. FINANCE COSTS – CONTINUING OPERATIONS

(Restated)
2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

Effective interest expense on convertible bonds 
– wholly repayable within five years (Note 29) 2,429 2,285

Interest on bank loan – not wholly repayable within five years 55 37
Effective interest expense on redeemable convertible 

preference shares (Note 27) 11 3
Other interest expense – wholly repayable within five years 70 210  

2,565 2,535  
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9. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION – CONTINUING OPERATIONS

(Restated)
2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging:

Auditor’s remuneration:
– audit services 64 63
– other services 12 12

Amortisation of intangible assets 569 815
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 553 413
Employee benefit expense (including directors’ remuneration) 

(Note 14(c)) 4,375 4,310
Foreign exchange losses, net 6 –
Impairment of available-for-sale investments – 4
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 38
Operating leases charges in respect of leased premises 226 256

After crediting:

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2 –
Foreign exchange gains, net – 3
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary – 5  

10(A). TAXATION – CONTINUING OPERATIONS

(Restated)
2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

Current tax charge
Hong Kong:

– Under provision in prior years – 4
– Current year charge – –  

– 4

Overseas:
– Over provision in prior years – –  

Net charge – 4  

No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided in the financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2012 as the Group did not make any assessable profit. Hong Kong profits tax was 
provided at the rate of 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for the year 
ended 31 December 2011. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates 
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions during the year.
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10(A). TAXATION – CONTINUING OPERATIONS (continued)
Reconciliation between tax charge and accounting loss at applicable rates:

(Restated)
2012 2011

US$’000 % US$’000 %

Loss before taxation
Continuing operations (4,359) (5,134)
Discontinued operations (890) (2,148)    

(5,249) (7,282)    

Tax at the domestic income tax rates (866) 16.50 (1,201) 16.50
Tax effect of non-taxable income (514) 9.80 (110) 1.51
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 631 (12.03) 624 (8.57)
Tax effect of unrecognised temporary 

differences (38) 0.72 (9) 0.12
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses 787 (14.99) 696 (9.56)
Under provision in prior years – – 4 (0.05)    

Tax charge at the Group’s effective 
tax rate – – 4 (0.05)    

10(B). DEFERRED TAXATION
Group
The major deferred tax assets not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position are 
as follows:

(Accelerated)/
Decelerated tax

depreciation
Unutilised tax

losses* Total
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

At 31 December 2012 (1,144) 9,733 8,589
At 31 December 2011 (1,107) 8,853 7,746   

* The tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely if certain criteria can be met under the respective tax jurisdictions.

No recognition of potential deferred tax assets relating to tax losses of the Group has been made as 
the recoverability of the potential deferred tax assets is uncertain.

Company
No deferred tax has been provided in the financial statements of the Company as the recoverability 
of the potential deferred tax assets is uncertain.
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11. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(Restated)
2012 2011

Note US$’000 US$’000

Revenue 354 1,308
Cost of sales – –  

Gross loss 354 1,308

Other income – 18

Administrative expenses
Other administrative expenses (1,150) (3,316)

Other operating expenses (94) (158)  

Loss before taxation (i) (890) (2,148)
Taxation – –  

Loss for the year (890) (2,148)  

Note:
(i) Loss before taxation – Discontinued operations

(Restated)
2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging:

Auditor’s remuneration:
– audit services 12 12
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 45 81
Employee benefit expense (including directors’ remuneration) (Note 14(c)) 537 1,907
Foreign exchange losses, net 6 8
Operating lease rental in respect of leased premises 104 196
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 95 –

After crediting:

Write back of provision for legal costs relating to claims, 
net of insurance recovery (250) –  
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12. LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
Of the consolidated loss attributable to the owners of the Company, a loss of US$1,373,000 (2011: 
US$15,971,000) has been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company.

13. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
(a) Basic loss per share

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing consolidated loss attributable to owners of the 
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

(Restated)
2012 2011

(US$’000)
Consolidated loss attributable to owners of the Company

Continuing operations (4,359) (5,138)
Discontinued operations (541) (1,156)  

(4,900) (6,294)  

(Number)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for 

the purpose of calculating basic loss per share 125,983,222 63,710,532  

(Restated)
2012 2011

US cents US cents

Basic loss per share
Continuing operations (3.46) (8.06)
Discontinued operations (0.43) (1.82)  

(3.89) (9.88)  

(b) Diluted loss per share
No diluted loss per share is shown for 2012 and 2011 as the outstanding share options, 
convertible bonds, warrants and redeemable convertible preference shares are anti-dilutive or 
have no dilutive effect.
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14. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ remuneration

Fees

Salaries
and

allowances

Contractual
and

discretionary
bonuses

Retirement
fund

contributions
Benefits

in kind

Share-based
compensation

expense* Total
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2012

Executive Directors:
Johnny Chan Kok Chung – 543 – 2 3 28 576
Jeffrey Lau Chun Hung – 345 22 4 – 29 400
Ulric Leung Yuk Lun – 402 218 4 – 24 648
Douglas Craham Morin – 29 – – – – 29

Non-Executive Directors:
Ahmad S. Al-Khaled 20 – – – – 6 26
Robert John Richard Owen 13 – – – – 28 41

Independent 
Non-Executive Directors:

David John Robinson Herratt 20 – – – – 6 26
Joseph Tong Tze Kay 40 – – – – 6 46
Daniel Yen Tzu Chen 40 – – – – 6 46       

133 1,319 240 10 3 133 1,838       

2011

Executive Directors:
Johnny Chan Kok Chung – 606 – 3 18 22 649
Jeffrey Lau Chun Hung – 263 21 3 – 13 300
Ulric Leung Yuk Lun – 385 218 3 – 8 614

Non-Executive Director:
Ahmad S. Al-Khaled 40 – – – – 2 42

Independent 
Non-Executive Directors:

David John Robinson Herratt 20 – – – – – 20
Joseph Tong Tze Kay 40 – – – – 2 42
Daniel Yen Tzu Chen 40 – – – – 2 42       

140 1,254 239 9 18 49 1,709       

* The amount of equity-settled share-based compensation expenses is measured according to the Group’s accounting 
policies for share-based employee compensation transactions as set out in Note 3(q)(iii) to the financial statements. 
Particulars of share options granted to the Directors under the Company’s share option scheme are set out in Note 
32 to the financial statements.
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14. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(a) Directors’ remuneration (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2012, Mr. Ahmad S. Al-Khaled resigned as Non-Executive 
Director of the Company on 30 June 2012. In addition, Mr. Robert John Richard Owen and Mr. 
Douglas Craham Morin were appointed as Non-Executive Director and Executive Director of the 
Company on 14 May 2012 and 9 November 2012 respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, Mr. Jeffrey Lau Chun Hung was appointed as 
Executive Director of the Company on 18 March 2011.

(b) Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year included 
three (2011: two) Directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. 
The emoluments payable to the remaining two (2011: three) individuals during the year are as 
follows:

2012 2011
US$’000 US$’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 531 898
Commission paid and payable – 213
Contractual and discretionary bonuses 155 127
Termination/gratuitous payments – 13
Retirement fund contributions 4 5
Share-based compensation expense 43 18  

733 1,274  

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals
2012 2011

Emolument bands
US$257,001 to US$321,000 1 –
US$321,001 to US$385,000 – –
US$385,001 to US$449,000 1 2
US$449,001 to US$513,000 – 1  

Save the compensation for loss of office paid to one of the three remaining highest paid 
individuals during the year ended 31 December 2011, no emoluments were paid by the Group 
to the Directors of the Company or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to 
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office during the years ended 
31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011.
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14. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(c) Employee benefit expense (including directors’ remuneration)

2012 2011
US$’000 US$’000

Fees 133 140
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 3,643 4,908
Commission paid and payable 186 361
Bonus paid and payable 647 618
Retirement fund contributions * 50 55
Share-based compensation expense 253 135  

Total 4,912 6,217  

Analysed into:
Continuing operations 4,375 4,310
Discontinued operations 537 1,907  

Total 4,912 6,217  

* There was no significant amount of forfeited contributions available to reduce future contributions payable by the 
Group as at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Group

Leasehold
land and
buildings

Computer
hardware and

software
Furniture

and fixtures
Leasehold

improvements
Motor

vehicles
Office

equipment Total
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

At 1 January 2011
Cost – 207 86 613 – 77 983
Accumulated depreciation – (193) (64) (397) – (65) (719)       

Carrying amount – 14 22 216 – 12 264       

Year ended 31 December 2011
Opening carrying amount – 14 22 216 – 12 264
Additions 10,201 148 137 361 237 71 11,155
Disposals – – – – (237) – (237)
Depreciation (187) (42) (31) (209) – (25) (494)       

Closing carrying amount 10,014 120 128 368 – 58 10,688       

At 31 December 2011
Cost 10,201 355 223 819 – 148 11,746
Accumulated depreciation (187) (235) (95) (451) – (90) (1,058)       

Carrying amount 10,014 120 128 368 – 58 10,688       

Year ended 31 December 2012
Opening carrying amount 10,014 120 128 368 – 58 10,688
Additions – 27 76 186 – 32 321
Disposals – – (7) – – (1) (8)
Depreciation (282) (60) (34) (190) – (32) (598)       

Closing carrying amount 9,732 87 163 364 – 57 10,403       

At 31 December 2012
Cost 10,201 358 261 548 – 136 11,504
Accumulated depreciation (469) (271) (98) (184) – (79) (1,101)       

Carrying amount 9,732 87 163 364 – 57 10,403       

As at 31 December 2012, the Group’s leasehold land and buildings were situated in Hong Kong, 
which was held under long-term lease.

Property, plant and equipment includes certain leasehold land and buildings of total carrying 
amount of US$9,458,000 (2011: US$9,732,000) pledged to a bank to secure a mortgage loan granted 
to one of the wholly owned subsidiaries as at 31 December 2012 (Note 26 (a)(iii)).
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16. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Company

2012 2011
Notes US$’000 US$’000

Investments at cost
– Unlisted shares, inside Hong Kong 8,509 6,078
– Unlisted shares, outside Hong Kong 41,563 41,534
Less: Impairment losses (37,161) (37,132)  

(i) 12,911 10,480  

Amounts due from subsidiaries 6,831 3,660
Less: Impairment losses (3,573) (3,573)  

(ii) 3,258 87  

Amounts due to subsidiaries (ii) (2,658) (1,031)  

13,511 9,536  

Notes:

(i) The investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment. The Directors are of the opinion that due to no quoted 
market price available in an active market, its fair value cannot be measured reliably accordingly. However, the Directors 
assessed the asset value of the Company’s subsidiaries and considered impairment of US$37,161,000 (2011: US$37,132,000) 
being made as at 31 December 2012. Details of principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 39 to the financial statements.

(ii) Amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries are interest-free, unsecured and have no fixed repayment terms. Impairment losses 
of US$Nil (2011: US$3,573,000) has been recognised in the income statement as the Directors are of the opinion that the 
amounts are unrecoverable from the subsidiaries.



Annual Report 2012 81

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012

17. INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES
Group

2012 2011
US$’000 US$’000

Share of net assets 217 –
Amount due from a jointly controlled entity 10 220  

At 31 December 227 220  

The movements in the Group’s interests in jointly controlled entities during the year are summarised 
as follows:

2012 2011
US$’000 US$’000

At 1 January 220 136
Share of profit 217 –
Net (repayment)/advance during the year (210) 84  

At 31 December 227 220  

Amount due from a jointly controlled entity is interest-free, unsecured and has no fixed repayment 
terms.

Particulars of the principal jointly controlled entities as at 31 December 2012 are as follows:

Name
Place of
incorporation

Issued/Paid-up 
share capital

Percentage of interest 
held by the Company 

indirectly

Principal activities
and place of
operation

2012 2011

JAIC-CROSBY Investment 
Management Company 
Limited

Cayman Islands 100 ordinary shares at 
US$1 each

50% 50% Provision of fund 
management 
services in the 
Cayman Islands

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s principal jointly controlled entities is set 
out below:

Assets Liabilities Equity Revenue Profit
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2012
100 per cent 443 10 – 456 433
Group’s effective interest at 31 December 222 5 – 228 217     

2011
100 per cent 432 (432) – 441 –
Group’s effective interest at 31 December 216 (216) – 221 –     

The financial information above is based on the unaudited management accounts for each of the two 
years ended 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011.
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18. NOTE RECEIVABLE
On 26 March 2012, the Company signed a subscription agreement to invest HK$20,000,000 
(approximately US$2,564,000) in a note (the “Note”) issued by Silver Pointer Limited (“Silver 
Pointer”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Shikumen Special Situations Fund (“SSSF”), an investment 
fund managed by Shikumen Capital Management (HK) Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the 
Company. Silver Pointer is established by SSSF to pursue private equity investment opportunities as 
permitted under its investment mandate.

The Note is unsecured, interest-bearing at 12% per annum and repayable after a fixed term of 3 years 
or earlier based on certain conditions.

19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
Group

2012 2011
Notes US$’000 US$’000

Unlisted investments, at fair value
Equity securities 586 605
Less: Impairment losses (15) (15)  

(i) 571 590

Unlisted investments, at cost
Equity securities 1,586 1,586
Less: Impairment losses (1,458) (1,458)  

(ii) 128 128  

Total 699 718  

The movements in available-for-sale investments during the year are as follows:

2012 2011
US$’000 US$’000

At 1 January 718 553
Additions (Note 37) – 128
Disposals – (20)
Change in fair value recognised directly in other 

comprehensive income (19) 57  

At 31 December 699 718  

Notes:

(i) Provision for impairment of US$Nil (2011: US$4,000) has been made during the year ended 31 December 2012 which has 
been removed from the investment revaluation reserve in equity and recognised in the consolidated income statement.

(ii) The fair value of unlisted investments was not disclosed as there was no open market on the unlisted investments and the 
fair value cannot be measured reliably.
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Group

Non-compete
contract Trademarks Total
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Carrying amount at 1 January 2011 1,384 4 1,388
Addition – 4 4
Amortisation (815) – (815)   

Carrying amount at 31 December 2011 
and 1 January 2012 569 8 577

Addition – 106 106
Written off – (2) (2)
Amortisation (569) – (569)   

Carrying amount at 31 December 2012 – 112 112   

The non-compete contract was attributable to the acquisition of Shikumen Capital Management (HK) 
Limited on 13 September 2010 and was amortised over its expected useful life of 2 years. It was fully 
amortised during the year ended 31 December 2012.

21. GOODWILL
Group

2012 2011
US$’000 US$’000

Carrying amount at 1 January and 31 December 3,311 3,311  

The recoverable amount of Shikumen Capital Management (HK) Limited (“Shikumen”) to which the 
goodwill relates has been determined based on a value in use calculation. The calculation is based 
on financial budgets covering a three-year period approved by management and followed by an 
extrapolation of expected cash flows with nil growth rate (2011: 4%). Key assumptions were based 
on past performance, management estimation on market development and general inflation based 
on the growth rates which do not exceed the long-term average growth rates for the business in 
which Shikumen operates. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 25.12% 
(2011: 18.56%) reflecting specific risks relating to the relevant cash generating unit. Based on the 
assessment performed, no impairment provision against the carrying amount of goodwill was 
considered necessary.
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Group

2012 2011
Notes US$’000 US$’000

Trade receivables (i) 836 1,316

Other receivables – gross 124 246
Less: Impairment losses – (107)  

Other receivables – net (ii) 124 139

Deposits and prepayments 529 698  

Total 1,489 2,153  

The fair value of trade and other receivables is considered by the Directors not to be materially 
different from carrying amounts.

Notes:

(i) At 31 December 2012, the ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date and net of impairment losses is as 
follows:

2012 2011
US$’000 US$’000

0 – 30 days 512 519
31 – 60 days 159 702
61 – 90 days 165 30
Over 90 days – 65  

Total 836 1,316  

The Group allows a credit period ranging from 15 to 45 days (2011: 15 to 45 days) to its asset management clients. The credit 
period for asset management contracts can be extended under special circumstances.

As at 31 December 2012, trade receivables related to three customers (2011: three customers) for which there was no recent 
history of default.

As at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011, no impairment has been made in respect of trade receivables.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on due date, which are past due but not impaired is as follows:

2012 2011
US$’000 US$’000

Less than 30 days past due 671 1,221
31 – 60 days past due 165 30
61 – 90 days past due – 65  

Total 836 1,316  
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(ii) The movements in the allowance for impairment of other receivables during the year are as follows:

2012 2011
US$’000 US$’000

At 1 January 107 193
Reversal due to debt recovery

– Continuing operations – (76)
Written off (107) (10)  

At 31 December – 107  

The ageing analysis of other receivables, based on due date, which are past due but not impaired is as follows:

2012 2011
US$’000 US$’000

Less than 30 days past due 124 123
31 – 60 days past due – –
61 – 90 days past due – –
Over 90 days past due – 16  

124 139  

Trade and other receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to a large number of diversified customers for 
whom there was no recent history of default.

Trade and other receivables that were past due but not impaired related to a large number of diversified customers that 
had a good track record of credit with the Group. Based on past credit history, management believes that no impairment 
allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the 
balances are still considered to be fully recoverable. The Group did not hold any collateral in respect of these balances.

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(a) Group

2012 2011
US$’000 US$’000

Held for trading
Listed securities, at fair value:

– Equity securities – Australia 20 31
– Equity securities – Japan 10 29  

Total 30 60  
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23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)
(b) The movements in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss during the 

year are as follows:

2012 2011
Notes US$’000 US$’000

At 1 January 60 274
Disposals (1) & (2) – (39)
Loss on financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss
– Continuing operations (30) (175)  

At 31 December 30 60  

Notes:

(1) The disposals of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are analysed as follows:

2012 2011
US$’000 US$’000

Disposals for cash – 39  

(2) The proceeds from sale of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in cash flow (Note 36) are analysed as 
follows:

2012 2011
US$’000 US$’000

Disposals for cash, as above – 39  

Analysed into:
Continuing operations – 39
Discontinued operations – –  

– 39  
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24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Bank and cash balances 3,021 7,774 62 4,916    

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in 
Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to US$10,000 (2011: US$35,000). The RMB is not freely convertible 
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations 
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group 
is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign 
exchange business.

25. OTHER PAYABLES
Group

2012 2011
US$’000 US$’000

Other payables 346 371
Accrued charges 1,663 2,165  

2,009 2,536  

Included in the Group’s accrued charges is the insurance deductible and related costs of US$Nil 
(2011: US$405,000) and the provision for bonus of US$1,050,000 (2011: US$1,028,000) to directors and 
staff, of which the provision for bonus of US$414,000 (2011: US$414,000) is deferred from prior years.
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26. BORROWINGS

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Current liabilities
Bank loan – secured 256 251 – –
Other loan – secured 1,990 – – –    

2,246 251 – –    

Non-current liabilities
Bank loan – secured 3,205 3,442 – –
Redeemable convertible

preference shares (Note 27) 961 950 961 950    

4,166 4,392 961 950    

Total 6,412 4,643 961 950    

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Borrowings are repayable
as follows:

Within one year 2,246 251 – –
In the second year 240 235 – –
In the third to fifth years 1,702 1,679 961 950
After the fifth year 2,224 2,478 – –    

Total 6,412 4,643 961 950    
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26. BORROWINGS (continued)
Notes:

(a) Bank loan

(i) The contractual interest rate of the bank loan is HIBOR+1.25%. HIBOR represents the Hong Kong Interbank Offered 
Rate.

(ii) The bank loan is repayable by instalments. The maturity date, on which the last instalment shall be due for repayment, 
will be 31 March 2026.

(iii) The bank loan is secured by:

– mortgage over certain leasehold land and building of the Group situated in Hong Kong of net carrying amount 
of US$9,458,000 as at 31 December 2012 (2011: US$9,732,000) (Note 15); and

– corporate guarantees given by the Company and Shikumen Capital Management (HK) Limited, a wholly owned 
subsidiary of the Company, for an unlimited amount and an amount up to HK$30,000,000 (approximately 
US$3,846,000) respectively, for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011.

(iv) The amounts due are based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreement. The banking facilities 
are subject to the fulfilment of covenants, as are commonly found in lending arrangement with financial institution. If 
the Group was to breach the covenants, the drawn down facilities would become repayable on demand.

The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants, is up to date with the scheduled repayments of 
the bank loan and does not consider it probable that the bank will exercise its discretion to demand repayment for so 
long as the Group continues to meet these requirements. As at 31 December 2012, none of the covenants relating to 
drawn down facilities had been breached (2011: Nil).

(b) Other loan

(i) The contractual interest rate of the other loan is 0.1% per day (i.e. 36.5% per annum), and the effective interest rate is 
43.06% per annum and is repayable on or prior to the maturity date on 24 January 2013.

(ii) The other loan is secured by personal guarantee from a substantial shareholder of the Company.

(c) Redeemable convertible preference shares

The effective interest rate of the redeemable convertible preference shares is 1.14% per annum.
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27. REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES
Group and Company
On 14 September 2011 (“issue date”), the Company issued 10,019,790 redeemable convertible 
preference shares (“RCPS”) of par value of US$0.10 each (before the Capital Reduction as disclosed 
in Note 30(c)(ii) to the financial statements) at subscription price of US$2.00 per RCPS, of which 
US$0.10 per RCPS was paid on subscription and the remaining balance of US$1.90 per RCPS will be 
paid immediately prior to the conversion of the RCPS into ordinary shares of the Company.

Each holder of the RCPS has the option to convert the RCPS into shares at an initial conversion price 
of HK$1.23 per share, subject to the conversion price reset scheme. At the end to 6-month period 
from the issue date and at the end of every 6-month period thereafter, the conversion price shall 
be adjusted to 110% of the one-month volume weighted average price of the ordinary shares of the 
Company. The conversion price shall not be lower than the par value of the ordinary shares of the 
Company. The RCPS mature five years from the issue date at an amount equals to the initial RCPS 
subscription price of the RCPS redeemed or can be convertible into shares on and after the issue 
date up to 7 September 2016 at the holder’s option upon the payment of the remaining balance of 
US$1.90 per share. The RCPS holders may request the Company to redeem the RCPS (in whole or in 
part) on or after the third anniversary of the issue date of the RCPS. The RCPS are not entitled to any 
dividend. The RCPS may be redeemed by the Company after the issue date at the early redemption 
amount provided that the closing market price of the ordinary shares of the Company is at least 150% 
of the conversion price for 30 consecutive trading days.

In accordance with the terms and conditions thereof, the conversion price was reset on 14 March 
2012 and 14 March 2013, and the prevailing conversion price is HK$0.90 per share as reset on 
14 March 2013.

The residual amount of the proceeds of the RCPS over the fair value of the embedded derivatives, 
estimated at the date of issuance using Binomial Option Pricing Model, is assigned as the liability 
component and is included in borrowings under non-current liabilities.
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27. REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES (continued)
Group and Company (continued)
The RCPS recognised in the statement of financial position at the issue date on 14 September 2011 
are calculated as follows:

US$’000

Face value of RCPS issued (Note 30(b)(ii)) 1,002
Initial value of subscription option over RCPS recognised upon subscription 3
Transaction costs – 

Net proceeds 1,005
Fair value of derivatives embedded in the RCPS (Note 28) (58) 

Liability component on initial recognition upon issuance of RCPS 947 

The carrying value of the liability component of the RCPS recognised in the statement of financial 
position at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2012 2011
US$’000 US$’000

Net carrying amount at 1 January 950 –
Issue of RCPS – 947
Effective interest expense for the year (Note 8) 11 3  

Net carrying amount at 31 December (Note 26) 961 950  

Interest expense on the RCPS is calculated using the effective interest method by applying the 
effective interest rate of 1.14% (2011: 1.14%) per annum.
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28. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Derivatives embedded in the 
convertible bonds issued:

Balance at 1 January 8,984 6,375 8,984 6,375
Initial recognition (Note 29) – 2,957 – 2,957
Conversion of bonds (570) – (570) –
Gain on financial liabilities at 

fair value through 
profit or loss (2,472) (348) (2,472) (348)    

Balance at 31 December 5,942 8,984 5,942 8,984    

Warrants issued:
Balance at 1 January 245 526 245 526
Exercise of warrants (169) – (169) –
Gain on financial liabilities at 

fair value through 
profit or loss (5) (281) (5) (281)    

Balance at 31 December 71 245 71 245    

Derivatives embedded in the 
redeemable convertible 
preference shares issued:

Balance at 1 January 33 – 33 –
Initial recognition (Note 27) – 58 – 58
Gain on financial liabilities at 

fair value through 
profit or loss (7) (25) (7) (25)    

Balance at 31 December 26 33 26 33    

Total 6,039 9,262 6,039 9,262    

Categorised as:
Current liabilities 5,942 – 5,942 –
Non-current liabilities 97 9,262 97 9,262    

6,039 9,262 6,039 9,262    
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28. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 
(continued)
On 4 October 2010, the Company repurchased the convertible bonds previously issued in March 
2006 at a consideration comprising cash of HK$156,000,000 (approximately US$20,000,000) financed 
by the issue of Tranche 1 Convertible Bonds (Note 29) and an aggregate of 60,000,000 warrants 
issued. The fair values of warrants issued amounting to HK$6,294,000 (approximately US$807,000) 
were valued by an independent professional valuer upon initial recognition.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, principal amount of HK$35,000,000 (approximately 
US$4,487,000) of convertible bonds had been converted into 37,634,408 ordinary shares of the 
Company (Note 30(d)) at the conversion price of HK$0.93 per share, with fair value of derivatives 
embedded therein of US$570,000 at the date of conversion, as calculated using the Binomial Option 
Pricing Model.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, warrants with an amount of HK$2,250,000 (approximately 
US$288,000) were exercised at the exercise price of HK$1.111 per share and 2,025,202 ordinary 
shares of the Company were allotted and issued (Note 30(e)), with fair value of derivatives embedded 
therein of US$169,000 at the date of exercise, as calculated using the Binomial Option Pricing Model.

The fair values at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011 are calculated using the Binomial Option 
Pricing Model for the derivatives embedded in the convertible bonds and the RCPS and the warrants 
issued respectively. The inputs into the model are as follows:

Derivatives embedded
in the convertible

bonds issued Warrants issued

Derivatives embedded
in the redeemable

convertible
preference shares issued

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Expected volatility 70.69% 90.83% 70.69% 90.83% 75.26% 89.93%
Expected life 2.76 years 3.76 years 2.76 years 3.76 years 3.71 years 4.71 years
Risk-free rate 0.12% 0.71% 0.12% 0.71% 0.22% 0.90%
Spot price HK$0.79 HK$0.83 HK$0.79 HK$0.83 HK$0.79 HK$0.83
Expected

dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%      

The Binomial Option Pricing Model requires the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the 
volatility of share price, therefore the changes in subjective input assumptions can materially affect 
the fair value estimates.
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS
Group and Company
In June 2010, the Company entered into a placing agreement with a placing agent pursuant 
to which the placing agent agreed to place 5-year Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds with an 
aggregate principal amount of up to HK$250,000,000, comprising Tranche 1 of principal amount 
up to HK$160,000,000 (the “Tranche 1 Convertible Bonds”) and Tranche 2 of principal amount 
of up to HK$90,000,000 (the “Tranche 2 Convertible Bonds”), subject to certain conditions. On 
4 October 2010, with the fulfillment of all conditions required for Tranche 1 Convertible Bonds, the 
Company issued the Tranche 1 Convertible Bonds, HK$156,000,000 of which was used to finance the 
repurchase of the convertible bonds previously issued in March 2006 as detailed in the Company’s 
2010 Annual Report. On 30 March 2011, with the fulfillment of all conditions required for Tranche 2 
Convertible Bonds, the Company further issued the Tranche 2 Convertible Bonds, the proceeds of 
which was used to finance the purchase of the office premises together with the bank loan (Note 26 
to the financial statements).

The Tranche 1 and Tranche 2 Convertible Bonds are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and are 
convertible at the option of the bondholder(s) at any time after the date of issuance up to and 
including the date which is seven days prior to the maturity date of 4 October 2015, into new shares 
of the Company at a price of HK$0.18 per share (before the Share Consolidation as disclosed in Note 
30(a)(ii) to the financial statements) initially, subject to the conversion price reset where at the end 
to 6-month period from the date of issuance and at the end of every 6-month period thereafter, the 
conversion price shall be adjusted to 110% of the one-month volume weighted average price with a 
floor of HK$0.78 per share (after adjustments for the effect of the Share Consolidation as disclosed 
in Note 30(a)(ii) to the financial statements) and provided that the conversion price shall not in any 
event be higher than the lower of HK$1.80 per share (after adjustments for the effect of the Share 
Consolidation as disclosed in Note 30(a)(ii) to the financial statements) and the previous adjusted 
conversion price reset. The Tranche 1 and Tranche 2 Convertible Bonds are transferable without 
restriction and may be redeemed by the Company after the date of issuance at the early redemption 
amount, which shall result in an annual yield equal to 3.5% per annum compound on a semi-annual 
basis, provided that the closing market price of the shares is at least 150% of the conversion price for 
30 consecutive trading days. The bondholder(s) of the Tranche 1 and Tranche 2 Convertible Bonds 
may request the Company to redeem at the aforesaid early redemption amount on or after the third 
anniversary of 4 October 2010.

In accordance with the terms and conditions thereof, the conversion price was reset on 4 April 2011 
and 4 October 2011, and the prevailing conversion price is HK$0.93 per share as reset on 4 October 
2011.
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)
Group and Company (continued)
The Tranche 1 Convertible Bonds and Tranche 2 Convertible Bonds recognised in the statement 
of financial position at the date of issuance on 4 October 2010 and 30 March 2011 respectively are 
calculated as follows:

Tranche 2
Convertible

Bonds

Tranche 1
Convertible

Bonds
US$’000 US$’000

Face value of Convertible Bonds issued 11,538 20,513
Transaction costs (86) (310)  

Net proceeds 11,452 20,203
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (Note 28) (2,957) (4,969)  

Liability component on initial recognition upon issuance of 
Convertible Bonds, i.e. 30 March 2011/4 October 2010 8,495 15,234  

The carrying values of the liability component of the convertible bonds recognised in the statement 
of financial position at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2012 2011
US$’000 US$’000

Net carrying amounts at 1 January 26,573 15,793
Effective interest expense for the year (Note 8) 2,429 2,285
Issue of new bonds – 8,495
Conversion of Convertible Bonds (3,890) –  

Net carrying amounts at 31 December 25,112 26,573  

Categorised as:
Current liabilities 25,112 –
Non-current liabilities – 26,573  

25,112 26,573  

During the year ended 31 December 2012, principal amount of HK$35,000,000 (approximately 
US$4,487,000) of the convertible bonds was converted into 37,634,408 ordinary shares of the 
Company (Note 30(d)) at conversion price of HK$0.93 per share, with the carrying value of the liability 
component of the convertible bonds of US$3,890,000 at the date of conversion.

The interest expense of the Tranche 1 Convertible Bonds and Tranche 2 Convertible Bonds for the 
year ended 31 December 2012 is calculated using the effective interest method by applying an 
effective interest rate of 9.43% (2011: 9.43%) and 10.95% (2011: 10.95%) to the liability component 
respectively.

The residual amount of the proceeds of the Tranche 1 Convertible Bonds and Tranche 2 Convertible 
Bonds over the fair value of the embedded derivatives, estimated at the date of issuance using 
Binomial Option Pricing Model, is assigned as the liability component.
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30. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of
ordinary

shares

Number of
convertible

redeemable
preference

shares

Number of
redeemable
convertible
preference

shares Value
US$’000

Authorised

At 1 January 2011 (par value of US$0.01 each) 4,000,000,000 100,000 – 40,001

Diminution (Note (a)(i)) – (100,000) – (1)

Effect of Share Consolidation (Note (a)(ii)) (3,600,000,000) – – –

Increase in authorised ordinary share capital (Note (a)(iii))
(par value of US$0.1 each) 1,600,000,000 – – 160,000

Redesignation and reclassification (Note (a)(iv)) (100,000,000) – 100,000,000 –    

At 31 December 2011 and 1 January 2012
 (par value of US$0.10 each) 1,900,000,000 – 100,000,000 200,000

Capital Reduction (Note (c)(i)) 17,100,000,000 – 900,000,000 –    

At 31 December 2012 (par value of US$0.01 each) 19,000,000,000 – 1,000,000,000 200,000    

Issued and fully paid

At 1 January 2011 (par value of US$0.01 each) 490,597,984 – – 4,906

Effect of Share Consolidation (Note (a)(ii)) (441,538,186) – – –

Issue of shares as a result of Rights Issue (Note (b)(i)) 49,059,798 – – 4,906

Issue of redeemable convertible preference shares
as a result of Rights Issue (Note (b)(ii)) – – 10,019,790 –    

At 31 December 2011 and 1 January 2012
(par value of US$0.10 each) 98,119,596 – 10,019,790 9,812

Conversion of convertible bonds (Note (d)) 37,634,408 – – 3,764

Capital Reduction (Note (c)(ii)) – – – (12,218)

Exercise of warrants (Note (e)) 2,025,202 – – 20    

At 31 December 2012 (par value of US$0.01 each) 137,779,206 – 10,019,790 1,378    
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30. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Notes:

(a) Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company held on 12 August 2011:

(i) The Company diminished its authorised but unissued share capital by cancelling 100,000 convertible redeemable 
preference shares of US$0.01 each with effect from 15 August 2011;

(ii) Every ten issued and unissued shares of US$0.01 each were consolidated into one new share of US$0.10 each with 
effect from 15 August 2011 (the “Share Consolidation”). The shares after the Share Consolidation ranked pari passu 
in all respects with each other;

(iii) The authorised ordinary share capital of the Company were increased from US$40,000,000 divided into 400,000,000 
shares of US$0.10 each to US$200,000,000 divided into 2,000,000,000 shares of US$0.10 each by the creation of an 
additional ordinary share capital of US$160,000,000 divided into 1,600,000,000 shares of US$0.10 each with effect from 
15 August 2011; and

(iv) The authorised share capital of the Company of US$200,000,000 divided into 2,000,000,000 shares of US$0.10 
each were redesignated and reclassified into: (a) 1,900,000,000 ordinary shares of par value US$0.10 each and (b) 
100,000,000 redeemable convertible preference shares of par value US$0.10 each with effect from 15 August 2011.

(b) On 14 September 2011:

(i) 49,059,798 ordinary shares of par value of US$0.10 each of the Company were issued by way of rights issue at a 
subscription price of HK$0.80 per share (the “Rights Issue”) in a total amount of approximately HK$39,248,000 
(approximately US$5,032,000) with option to subscribe for one redeemable convertible preference share for every 
two rights shares issued and taken up. These shares ranked pari passu in all respects with other ordinary shares in 
issue; and

(ii) 10,019,790 redeemable convertible preference shares (“RCPS”) of par value of US$0.10 each of the Company were 
allotted and issued at subscription price of US$2.00 per RCPS, of which US$0.10 per RCPS was paid on subscription 
in a total amount of approximately US$1,002,000 and the remaining balance of US$1.90 per RCPS will be paid 
immediately prior to the conversion of the RCPS into ordinary shares of the Company. The residual amount of 
the proceeds of the RCPS over the fair value of the embedded derivatives as set out in Note 27 to the financial 
statements, is assigned as the liability component as set out in Note 26 to the financial statements.

(c) Pursuant to a special resolution passed at the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company held on 12 August 2011 
and an order confirming the capital reduction granted by the Court from Cayman Islands on 19 April 2012 (the “Capital 
Reduction“):

(i) Each authorised but unissued ordinary share and redeemable convertible preference share (“RCPS”) of par value of 
US$0.10 be subdivided into 10 new adjusted shares of US$0.01 each (such that the authorised share capital of the 
Company shall become US$200,000,000 divided into 20,000,000,000 adjusted shares of US$0.01 each) comprising 
19,000,000,000 ordinary shares of US$0.01 each and 1,000,000,000 RCPS of US$0.01 each with effect from 31 May 
2012; and

(ii) The par value of each issued ordinary share and RCPS reduced from US$0.10 to US$0.01 by cancelling US$0.09 of the 
paid-up capital on each issued ordinary share and RCPS such that the nominal value of each issued ordinary share and 
RCPS be reduced from US$0.10 to US$0.01 each with effect from 31 May 2012.

(d) On 16 April 2012, principal amount of HK$35,000,000 (approximately US$4,487,000) of convertible bonds was converted into 
37,634,408 ordinary shares at the conversion price of HK$0.93 per share.

(e) On 11 June 2012, 2,025,202 ordinary shares were allotted and issued upon exercise of warrants for a total amount of 
HK$2,250,000 (approximately US$288,000) at the exercise price of HK$1.111 per share.
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31. RESERVES
Group

2012 2011
US$’000 US$’000

Share premium 438 107,943
Capital reserve 271 271
Capital redemption reserve 77 77
Employee share-based compensation reserve 4,430 7,034
Investment revaluation reserve 218 237
Foreign exchange reserve 6 4
Accumulated losses (24,431) (143,228)  

(18,991) (27,662)  

Details of the movements in the above reserves during the year are set out in the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity on pages 36 and 37. Nature and purpose of the reserves is as follows:

(a) Share premium
Share premium is the excess of the proceeds received over the nominal value of the shares of 
the Company issued at a premium, less the amount of expenses incurred in connection with the 
issue of the shares.

(b) Capital reserve
The capital reserve represents a capital reserve arising from the acquisition of a subsidiary 
during the year ended 31 December 2000.

(c) Capital redemption reserve
The capital redemption reserve represents the repurchase of shares of the Company listed on 
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. These repurchased shares were cancelled upon 
repurchase and, accordingly, the nominal value of the cancelled shares was credited to capital 
redemption reserve and the aggregate consideration paid was debited to the retained profits 
and share premium accounts.

(d) Employee share-based compensation reserve
The employee share-based compensation reserve relates to share options granted to 
employees and directors under the Company’s Share Option Scheme. Further information 
about share-based payments to directors and employees is set out in Note 32.

(e) Investment revaluation reserve
The investment revaluation reserve represents accumulated gains and losses arising on 
the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets that have been recognized in other 
comprehensive income/(loss), net of amounts reclassified to profit or loss when those 
investments have been disposed of, are determined to be impaired.
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31. RESERVES (continued)
(f) Foreign exchange reserve

Exchange differences arising from the translation of the net assets of the Group’s foreign 
operations from their functional currencies to the Group’s presentation currency (i.e. Hong Kong 
Dollars) are recognised directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign 
exchange reserve. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy of foreign 
currencies set out in Note 3(g).

Company

Share
premium

Capital
reserve

Capital
redemption

reserve

Employee
share-based

compensation
reserve

Accumulated
losses Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

At at 1 January 2011 108,221 271 77 6,818 (132,001) (16,614)

Issue of shares as a 
result of rights issue 126 – – – – 126

Share issue costs (404) – – – – (404)
Employee share-based 

compensation – – – 57 – 57
Employee share-based

compensation 
granted to 
subsidiaries – – – 69 – 69

Loss for the year – – – – (15,971) (15,971)      

At 31 December 2011 
and at 1 January 2012 107,943 271 77 6,944 (147,972) (32,737)

Issue of shares upon 
conversion of bonds 696 – – – – 696

Issue of shares upon 
exercise of warrants 438 – – – – 438

Capital reduction (108,639) – – – 120,857 12,218
Employee share-based 

compensation – – – 133 – 133
Employee share-based

compensation 
granted to 
subsidiaries – – – 120 – 120

Repurchase of
share options – – – (2,691) 2,674 (17)

Loss for the year – – – – (1,373) (1,373)      

At 31 December 2012 438 271 77 4,506 (25,814) (20,522)      
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(a) Share Option Scheme of the Company

The Company adopted an employee share option scheme on 27 March 2002 (the “Company’s 
Share Option Scheme”) in order to incentivise key management and staff.

Pursuant to the Company’s Share Option Scheme, a duly authorised committee of the board of 
Directors of the Company may, at its discretion, grant options to eligible employees, including 
Directors, of the Company or any of its subsidiaries to subscribe for shares in the Company at a 
price not less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company on the Stock 
Exchange on the date of grant of the particular option or (ii) the average of the closing prices of 
the shares of the Company for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the grant 
of the options or (iii) the nominal value of the shares. On each grant of options HK$10 is payable 
by the grantee.

The total number of shares available for issue under options granted pursuant to the Company’s 
Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares in 
issue as at the date of the approval of the Company’s Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme 
Mandate Limit”), unless shareholders’ approval of the Company has been obtained. However, 
the overall limit must not on aggregate exceed 30% of the Company’s issued share capital (i.e. 
41,333,762 options as of 31 December 2012). Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of 
the Company’s Share Option Scheme shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating the 
Scheme Mandate Limit.

The total number of the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of options granted 
(whether or not cancelled) and to be granted under the Company’s Share Option Scheme to 
any eligible person (including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12 month period 
immediately preceding the date of grant to such eligible person shall not exceed 1% of the 
issued shares of the Company, unless approval of shareholders of the Company has been 
obtained. Where any option is proposed to be granted to a substantial shareholder (as defined 
in the GEM Listing Rules) or an independent non-executive director of the Company or any of 
their associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) in excess of 0.1% of the issued shares of 
the Company and having an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000 then the proposed grant 
must be subject to the approval of shareholders of the Company.

Share options granted under the Company’s Share Option Scheme are exercisable as follows:

(i) the first 30% of the options between the first and tenth anniversary of the date of grant;

(ii) the next 30% of the options between the second and tenth anniversary of the date of grant; 
and

(iii) the remaining options between the third and tenth anniversary of the date of grant.
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
(a) Share Option Scheme of the Company (continued)

Details of the share options granted under the Company’s Share Option Scheme are as follows:

Number of Share Options 

Date of grant
Exercise

price Exercise period

Balance as at
1 January

2012

Granted
during

the year

Exercised
during

the year

Cancelled/
lapsed
during

the year

Balance
as at

31 December
2012

Options
exercisable at
31 December

2012
(dd/mm/yyyy) HK$ (dd/mm/yyyy)

27/03/2002 5.216 27/03/2003 to 26/03/2012 4,048 – – (4,048) – –
24/03/2006 57.054 24/03/2007 to 23/03/2016 269,916 – – – 269,916 269,916
26/04/2006 57.054 26/04/2007 to 25/04/2016 1,619,512 – – (809,756) 809,756 809,756
29/01/2007 27.045 29/01/2008 to 28/01/2017 134,956 – – – 134,956 134,956
11/02/2008 13.337 11/02/2009 to 10/02/2018 1,045,941 – – (337,398) 708,543 708,543
29/12/2008 1.334 29/12/2009 to 28/12/2018 269,916 – – – 269,916 269,916
07/10/2010 1.171 07/10/2011 to 06/10/2020 2,523,739 – – – 2,523,739 1,514,243
16/03/2012 1.206 16/03/2013 to 15/03/2022 – 4,905,000 – – 4,905,000 –
14/05/2012 1.136 14/05/2013 to 13/05/2022 – 980,000 – – 980,000 –      

5,868,028 5,885,000 – (1,151,202) 10,601,826 3,707,330      

Note: The exercise prices per outstanding options and the number of shares to be allotted and issued attaching to the 
instruments incorporated the adjustments as a result of the Share Consolidation and issue of rights shares which 
took effect from 15 August 2011 and 14 September 2011 as set out in Note 30(a)(ii) and Note 30(b)(i) to the financial 
statements respectively.
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
(a) Share Option Scheme of the Company (continued)

The following table discloses movements in the outstanding options granted under the 
Company’s Share Option Scheme during the year:

Number of share options 

Year Grantees Date of grant

Outstanding
at

1 January

Granted
during

the year

Cancelled/
lapsed
during

the year

Exercised
during

the year

Outstanding
at

31 December Notes
(dd/mm/yyyy)

2012 Directors 24/03/2006 202,437 – – – 202,437
26/04/2006 809,756 – – – 809,756
29/01/2007 101,217 – – – 101,217
11/02/2008 607,325 – – – 607,325
29/12/2008 202,437 – – – 202,437
07/10/2010 985,203 – – – 985,203
16/03/2012 – 2,420,000 – – 2,420,000 1
14/05/2012 – 980,000 – – 980,000 2      

2,908,375 3,400,000 – – 6,308,375      
Employees 27/03/2002 4,048 – (4,048) – –

24/03/2006 67,479 – – – 67,479
26/04/2006 809,756 – (809,756) – –
29/01/2007 33,739 – – – 33,739
11/02/2008 438,616 – (337,398) – 101,218
29/12/2008 67,479 – – – 67,479
07/10/2010 1,538,536 – – – 1,538,536
16/03/2012 – 2,485,000 – – 2,485,000 1      

2,959,653 2,485,000 (1,151,202) – 4,293,451      
Total 5,868,028 5,885,000 (1,151,202) – 10,601,826      
Weighted average 

exercise price HK$21.938 HK$1.194 HK$44.059 – HK$8.022      
2011 Directors 24/03/2006 202,437 – – – 202,437

26/04/2006 809,756 – – – 809,756
29/01/2007 101,217 – – – 101,217
11/02/2008 607,325 – – – 607,325
29/12/2008 202,437 – – – 202,437
07/10/2010 985,203 – – – 985,203      

2,908,375 – – – 2,908,375      
Employees 27/03/2002 4,048 – – – 4,048

24/03/2006 67,479 – – – 67,479
26/04/2006 809,756 – – – 809,756
29/01/2007 33,739 – – – 33,739
11/02/2008 438,616 – – – 438,616
29/12/2008 67,479 – – – 67,479
07/10/2010 1,538,536 – – – 1,538,536      

2,959,653 – – – 2,959,653      
Total 5,868,028 – – – 5,868,028      
Weighted average 

exercise price HK$21.938 – – – HK$21.938      
Notes: 

1. The closing price of the shares of the Company quoted on the Stock Exchange on 15 March 2012, being the business 
date immediately before the date on which share options were granted, was HK$1.20.

2. The closing price of the shares of the Company quoted on the Stock Exchange on 11 May 2012, being the business 
date immediately before the date on which share options were granted, was HK$1.14.
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
(a) Share Option Scheme of the Company (continued)

5,885,000 (2011: Nil) options were granted during the year ended 31 December 2012. The 
fair value of the options granted during the year ended 31 December 2012, measured at 
the date of grant, totalled approximately US$465,000 (2011:US$1,690,000). The weighted 
average remaining contractual life of the options outstanding as at 31 December 2012 was 
approximately 7.85 years (2011: 6.68 years).

US$253,000 (2011: US$126,000) of employee share-based compensation expense is included in 
the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2012.

4,048 options were lapsed upon expiry of the life of the options during the year ended 
31 December 2012.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, 1,147,154 options were repurchased and cancelled at 
total consideration of HK$131,585 (approximately US$17,000) on 16 October 2012.

There are 13,575,400 ordinary shares, which represent 10% of the total number of shares in issue 
as at the date of the approval of the renewal of the Scheme Mandate Limit and 5% of the total 
issued share capital of the Company, available for issue under the Company’s Share Option 
Scheme at the date of this annual report.

The following significant assumptions were used to derive the fair value of the share options 
granted in the year ended 31 December 2012, using the Binomial Option Pricing Model:

(i) an expected constant volatility: between 90.87% and 91.04% throughout the option life;

(ii) nil dividend yield;

(iii) the estimated expected life of the options granted is 10 years; and

(iv) the risk free rates are based on the yields on Hong Kong Exchange Fund Bills and Notes.

In the determination of volatility, the historical volatility of the Company prior to the issuance of 
share options has been considered. The volatility is measured based on the weekly price change 
and the volatility measured on weekly basis provided a reasonable estimation for the expected 
volatility is considered.
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
(b) Share Option Scheme of the Subsidiary

Crosby Wealth Management (Asia) Limited (“CWMA”)
CWMA, a 55.86% subsidiary of the Company, adopted an employee share option scheme on 
27 April 2007 (“CWMA Share Option Scheme”) in order to incentivise key management and 
staff of CWMA. Pursuant to the CWMA Share Option Scheme, a duly authorised committee 
of the board of directors of CWMA may, at its discretion, grant options to eligible employees, 
including directors, of CWMA or any of its subsidiaries to subscribe for shares in CWMA at 
a price at least the highest of: (a) the nominal value of a CWMA share on the date of grant; 
(b) the fair value of a CWMA share as determined by the CWMA director from time to time, 
initially fixed at US$500, on the date of grant; and (c) where applicable, in relation to the options 
granted after the parent company has resolved to seek a separate listing of CWMA on any stock 
exchange and up to the listing date of CWMA, the new issue price. On each grant of options 
US$1 is payable by the grantee.

The total number of shares available for issue under options granted pursuant to the CWMA 
Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of CWMA’s 
shares in issue at the date of last approval on 27 April 2007 (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”), 
unless approval of shareholders of the Company has been obtained. However, the overall limit 
must not in aggregate exceed 25% of CWMA’s issued share capital (i.e. 4,522 options as at 
31 December 2012). Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the CWMA Share Option 
Scheme, prior to their exercise dates, are available for re-use.

The total number of CWMA’s shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of options granted 
(whether or not cancelled) and to be granted under the CWMA Share Option Scheme to any 
eligible person (including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12 month period 
immediately preceding the date of grant to such eligible person shall not exceed 1% of CWMA’s 
shares in issue, unless approval of shareholders of the Company has been obtained. Where any 
option is proposed to be granted to a substantial shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing 
Rules) or an independent non-executive director of the Company or any of their associates 
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) in excess of 0.1% of the shares of CWMA and having an 
aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000 then the proposed grant must be subject to the 
approval of shareholders of the Company.

Share options granted under CWMA Share Option Scheme are exercisable between the third 
and tenth anniversary of the date of grant.
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
(b) Share Option Scheme of the Subsidiary (continued)

Crosby Wealth Management (Asia) Limited (“CWMA”) (continued)
Details of the share options granted under the CWMA Share Option Scheme are as follows:

Number of Share Options 

Date of grant
Exercise

price Exercise period

Balance
as at

1 January
2012

Granted
during

the year

Exercised
during

the year

Cancelled/
lapsed
during

the year

Balance
as at

31 December
2012

Options 
exercisable at
31 December

2012
(dd/mm/yyyy) US$ (dd/mm/yyyy)

01/06/2007 500 01/06/2010 to 31/05/2017 180 – – (180) – –
12/06/2007 500 12/06/2010 to 11/06/2017 90 – – (90) – –
01/06/2008 500 01/06/2011 to 31/05/2018 180 – – (180) – –      

450 – – (450) – –      

The following table discloses movements in the outstanding options granted under the CWMA 
Share Option Scheme during the year:

Number of share options 

Year Grantees Date of grant
Outstanding
at 1 January

Granted during
the year

Lapsed during
the year

Exercised
during the year

Outstanding at
31 December

(dd/mm/yyyy)

2012 Directors of 
CWMA

01/06/2007 180 – (180) – –
01/06/2008 180 – (180) – –

Employees of 
CWMA

12/06/2007 90 – (90) – –
     

Total 450 – (450) – –     

Weighted average 
exercise price US$500 – US$500 – –     

2011 Directors of 
CWMA

01/06/2007 180 – – – 180
01/06/2008 180 – – – 180

Employees of 
CWMA

12/06/2007 90 – – – 90
     

Total 450 – – – 450     

Weighted average 
exercise price US$500 – – – US$500     

No options were granted during the years ended 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011.

450 options were lapsed during the year ended 31 December 2012 (2011: Nil).

The weight average remaining contractual life of the options outstanding as at 31 December 
2011 was approximately 5.83 years.

No employee share-based compensation expense is included in the consolidated income 
statement of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2012 (2011: US$9,000).
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33. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, 
have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Details of the other 
significant transactions between the Group and other related parties during the year ended 
31 December 2012 are as follows:

(a) Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including amounts paid to the 
Directors of the Company and no (2011: nil) highest paid employees other than the Directors of 
the Company as disclosed in Note 14 to the financial statements, is as follows:

2012 2011
US$’000 US$’000

Fees 133 140
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,363 1,580
Bonus paid and payable 240 260
Retirement fund contributions 10 10
Share-based compensation expense 181 79  

1,927 2,069  

(b) During the year, the Group had the following material related party transactions and balances:

2012 2011
US$’000 US$’000

Effective interest charged by Crosby Management Holdings 
Limited (“CMHL”), a substantial shareholder of the 
Company, in respect of note payable – 97

Partial prepayment of note payable to CMHL, including 
effective interest thereon – 2,340

Interest paid to a Director of the Company in respect of note 
payable on the first anniversary date of issuance – 45

Fee rebate paid and payable to key management staff
of the Group 360 335  

(c) As at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011, the balances with related parties were:

2012 2011
US$’000 US$’000

Fee rebate payable to key management staff of the Group 181 182  
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34. COMMITMENTS
(a) Operating leases

Group
As at 31 December 2012, the total future minimum lease payments of the Group under non-
cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
Land and
buildings

Land and
buildings

Motor
vehicles

Motor
vehicles Others Others Total Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Within one year 275 16 7 29 9 – 291 45
In the second to 

fifth years – – – 25 – – – 25        

275 16 7 54 9 – 291 70        

The Group leased certain properties under operating leases in Hong Kong. The leases run for 
an initial period of 1 to 2 years (2011: 3 years), with an option to renew the lease and renegotiate 
the terms at the expiry date or at dates as mutually agreed between the Group and respective 
landlords/lessors. None of the leases include contingent rentals.

Company
As at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011, the Company had no commitments under non-
cancellable operating leases.

(b) Capital commitments
As at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011, the Group and the Company had no material 
capital commitments.

35. CONTINGENCIES
The Company and Shikumen Capital Management (HK) Limited, its wholly owned subsidiary, 
have provided corporate guarantees of unlimited amount and an amount up to HK$30,000,000 
(approximately US$3,846,000) respectively to secure the bank loan granted to another wholly owned 
subsidiary of the Company, HK$26,993,000 (approximately US$3,461,000) of which the maximum 
amount required to pay if the guarantees were called on, as set out in Note 26 to the financial 
statements. The Company had not recognised any provision in the financial statements as at 31 
December 2012 (2011: Nil) in respect of the corporate guarantee as the Directors considered that the 
probability for the holder of the corporate guarantees to call upon the Company as a result of default 
in repayment is remote.

Save as disclosed above, the Group and the Company had no material contingent liabilities as at 
31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011.
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36. RECONCILIATION OF LOSS BEFORE TAXATION TO CASH USED IN 
OPERATIONS

(Restated)
2012 2011

Notes US$’000 US$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Continuing operations
Loss before taxation (4,359) (5,134)
Adjustments for:

Amortisation of intangible assets 569 815
Bad debts recovery – (81)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 553 413
Dividend income (51) (3)
Fee income received in kind – (76)
Finance costs 2,565 2,535
Foreign exchange losses, net – 5
Employee share-based compensation expense 14(c) 253 126
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of property, 

plant and equipment (2) 38
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments – (15)
Gain on financial liabilities at fair value

through profit or loss (2,484) (654)
Impairment of available-for-sale investments – 4
Interest income (284) (1)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary – (5)
Loss on financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss 30 175
Other income received in kind (95) –  

Operating loss before working capital changes (3,305) (1,858)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 23(b)(2) – 39
Increase in amount due from a jointly controlled entity (7) (84)
Decrease in deferred income (52) (8)
Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other receivables 375 (112)
(Decrease)/Increase in other payables (6) 52  

Cash outflow from operations (2,995) (1,971)  
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37. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
The major non-cash transaction during the year ended 31 December 2012 is in respect of repurchase 
of 1,147,154 share options from a former director for a consideration of HK$131,585 (approximately 
US$17,000), which was settled through offset of the amount due from a company ultimately owned by 
a former director.

The major non-cash transaction during the year ended 31 December 2011 was in respect of the 
grant of 100,000 ordinary shares of State Fortune Capital Management Limited (“SFCM”) on 28 
July 2011 to an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, Crosby Investment (BVI) Limited, 
disclosed as available-for-sale investments (Note 19 to the financial statements), in return for 
providing management services and office facilities of US$128,000 to SFCM, US$52,000 of which was 
recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position.

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks, as detailed below, which are managed by the four 
Executive Directors collectively in close cooperation with the Board of Directors:

(A) Credit risk
As at 31 December 2012, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk of the above financial 
assets other than liquid funds, which may cause a financial loss to the Group is limited as the 
management of the Group closely monitors the credit worthiness of the counterparties so as to 
ensure full recovery, including scrutinising their financial position. In this regard, the Directors 
consider that the Group’s credit risk is minimal.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the Group mainly places deposits with leading 
financial institutions in Hong Kong.

As at 31 December 2012, the maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of financial guarantees 
issued by the Company was US$3,461,000 (2011: US$3,693,000) which represented the maximum 
amount the Company could be required to pay if the guarantees were called on and is disclosed 
in Note 35 to the financial statements.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
(B) Market risk

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices.

(i) Foreign currency risk management
The Group’s exposure to foreign currencies includes its investments in foreign subsidiaries 
and financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss where the foreign 
currency risk is managed as an integral part of the investment return.

Several subsidiaries of the Group also have foreign currency revenue and costs, which 
expose the Group to foreign currency risk. The Group manages this risk by reserving 
sufficient revenue to settle the costs in the relevant foreign currency, subject to other 
operating requirements.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and 
monetary liabilities, which are subject to foreign exchange risk, at 31 December 2012 and 
31 December 2011 are summarised as follows:

2012

USD 
denominated

YEN
denominated

equivalent

AUD
denominated

equivalent

GBP
denominated

equivalent

Other
currencies
equivalent Total

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000  USD’000 USD’000

ASSETS
Available-for-sale 

investments 572 – – – 127 699
Trade and other 

receivables* 1,067 – – – 223 1,290
Financial assets at 

fair value through 
profit or loss – 10 20 – – 30

Cash and cash 
equivalents 737 – – – 2,284 3,021      

2,376 10 20 – 2,634 5,040      

LIABILITIES
Other payables (747) – – – (1,262) (2,009)
Financial liabilities at 

fair value through 
profit or loss – – – – (6,039) (6,039)

Loan payable – – – – (62) (62)
Borrowings – – – – (6,412) (6,412)
Convertible bonds – – – – (25,112) (25,112)      

(747) – – – (38,887) (39,634)      

NET TOTAL 1,629 10 20 – (36,253) (34,594)      
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
(B) Market risk (continued)

(i) Foreign currency risk management (continued)

2011

USD 
denominated

YEN
denominated

equivalent

AUD
denominated

equivalent

GBP
denominated

equivalent

Other
currencies
equivalent Total

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000  USD’000 USD’000

ASSETS
Available-for-sale 

investments 590 – – – 128 718
Trade and other 

receivables* 1,350 – – 11 258 1,619
Financial assets at 

fair value through 
profit or loss – 29 31 – – 60

Cash and cash 
equivalents 1,871 – – – 5,903 7,774      

3,811 29 31 11 6,289 10,171      

LIABILITIES
Other payables (774) – – – (1,762) (2,536)
Financial liabilities at 

fair value through 
profit or loss – – – – (9,262) (9,262)

Loan payable – – – – (59) (59)
Borrowings – – – – (4,643) (4,643)
Convertible bonds – – – – (26,573) (26,573)      

(774) – – – (42,299) (43,073)      

NET TOTAL 3,037 29 31 11 (36,010) (32,902)      

* Excluded from the trade and other receivables of US$1,290,000 (2011: US$1,619,000) is an amount of 
US$199,000 (2011: US$534,000) representing prepayments which are not subject to foreign exchange risk.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
(B) Market risk (continued)

(i) Foreign currency risk management (continued)
Sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to the effects of fluctuation in YEN, AUD and GBP. Other 
currencies mainly represented HKD. Since HKD is pegged to USD, the Group does not 
expect any significant movements in USD/HKD exchange rate. The following table details 
the Group’s sensitivity to a 20% (2011: 20%) increase and decrease in the US dollars against 
the relevant foreign currencies. 20% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign 
currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s 
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity 
analysis includes outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items, and adjusts 
their translation at the period end for a 20% change in foreign currency rates. A positive 
number below indicates an increase in profit and other equity where the US dollars weaken 
20% against the relevant currency. For a 20% strengthening of the US dollars against the 
relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit and other 
equity, and the balances below would be negative.

2012

Foreign Currency
As at

31 December

Increase in
exchange

rate

Effect on
loss for

the year
and capital
deficiency

Decrease in
exchange

rate

Effect on
loss for

the year
and capital
deficiency

US$’000 % US$’000 % US$’000

YEN 9 20 (2) (20) 2
AUD 20 20 (4) (20) 4     

TOTAL 29 (6) 6     

2011

Foreign Currency
As at

31 December

Increase in
exchange

rate

Effect on
loss for

the year
and capital
deficiency

Decrease in
exchange

rate

Effect on
loss for

the year
and capital
deficiency

US$’000 % US$’000 % US$’000

YEN 29 20 (6) (20) 6
AUD 31 20 (6) (20) 6
GBP 11 20 (2) (20) 2     

TOTAL 71 (14) 14     



Annual Report 2012 113

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
(B) Market risk (continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk management
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily 
to the Group’s floating interest rate borrowing as disclosed in Note 26 to the financial 
statements. During the year, management did not consider it necessary to use interest rate 
swaps to hedge their exposure to interest rate risk as the interest rate risk exposure is not 
significant.

(iii) Equity price risk management
The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its holdings of listed equity securities.

The carrying amounts of the listed equity securities recognised at 31 December 2012 and 
31 December 2011, are summarised below:

2012 2011
US$’000 US$’000

Carrying amount of listed equity securities included
in the following classes of financial assets:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Note 23) 30 60  

30 60  

As at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011, the Group’s equity risk was mainly 
concentrated on its holdings of White Energy Company Limited (“White Energy”), which is 
quoted on the Australian Stock Exchange, the carrying amount as at 31 December 2012 is 
US$16,000 (2011: US$26,000).
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
(B) Market risk (continued)

(iii) Equity price risk management (continued)
Sensitivity Analysis
The sensitivity analysis and the table below have been determined based on the exposure 
to equity price risk at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011.

2012

Financial assets
at fair value 
through profit
or loss

Market
value as at

31 December

Increase
in market

price of
listed share

Effect on
loss for

the year
and capital
deficiency

Decrease
in market

price of
listed share

Effect on
loss for

the year
and capital
deficiency

US$’000 % US$’000 % US$’000

White Energy 16 20 3 (20) (3)
Others 14 20 3 (20) (3)     

TOTAL 30 6 (6)     

2011

Financial assets
at fair value
through profit
or loss

Market
value as at

31 December

Increase
in market

price of
listed share

Effect on
loss for

the year
and capital
deficiency

Decrease
in market

price of
listed share

Effect on
loss for

the year
and capital
deficiency

US$’000 % US$’000 % US$’000

White Energy 26 20 5 (20) (5)
Others 34 20 7 (20) (7)     

TOTAL 60 12 (12)     

As at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011, the Group did not hold any listed 
investment classified as available-for-sale investments at fair value.

The Group’s sensitivity to equity prices has decreased during the current year mainly due 
to the reduction of the overall value of the holding of the portfolios.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
(B) Market risk (continued)

(iv) Fair value measurements recognised on the statement of financial position
The following table presents financial assets measured at fair value in the statement 
of financial position in accordance with the fair value hierarchy. The hierarchy groups 
financial assets into three levels based on the relative reliability of significant inputs used in 
measuring the fair value of these financial assets. The fair value hierarchy has the following 
levels:

• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets;
• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for 

the asset, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and
• Level 3: inputs for the asset that are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable inputs).

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial asset is categorised in 
its entirety is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement.

The financial assets measured at fair value in the statement of financial position are 
grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

2012
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Financial assets:
Available-for-sale 

investments
– Unlisted – 571 – 571

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss
– Listed 30 – – 30    

TOTAL 30 571 – 601    

Financial liabilities:
Financial liabilities at

fair value through
profit or loss – (6,039) – (6,039)    
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
(B) Market risk (continued)

(iv) Fair value measurements recognised on the statement of financial position (continued)

2011
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Financial assets:
Available-for-sale investments

– Unlisted – 590 – 590
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss
– Listed 60 – – 60    

TOTAL 60 590 – 650    

Financial liabilities:
Financial liabilities at

fair value through
profit or loss – (9,262) – (9,262)    

There have been no significant transfers among levels 1, 2 and 3 in the reporting period.

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of measuring fair value are 
unchanged compared to previous reporting periods.

Listed securities
The listed equity securities are mainly denominated in YEN, AUD and GBP. Fair values have 
been determined by reference to their quoted bid prices at the reporting date and have 
been translated using the spot foreign currency rates at the end of the reporting period 
where appropriate.

Unlisted securities
The fair value of unlisted funds is determined by reference to their net assets value.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
The fair value of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss is measured using a 
Binomial Option Pricing Model as disclosed in Note 28 to the financial statements.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
(C) Liquidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which has 
built an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s 
short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group 
manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves by continuously monitoring forecast 
and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its obligations associated 
with its financial liabilities. The cash management of all operating entities is centralised, 
including the raising of loans to cover expected cash demands. The Group’s policy is to 
regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains 
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. As 
disclosed in Note 3(a) to the financial statements, the Directors of the Company have taken 
active steps to improve the liquidity position of the Group by considering additional financing 
by way of new shares issue or other means and focusing on the existing businesses of asset 
management and direct investment and to attain positive cash flow operations through the new 
wholly owned subsidiary, Crosby Securities Limited, by engaging in brokerage and investment 
advisory services.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturities for its financial 
liabilities which are included in the maturity analysis provided internally to the key management 
personnel for the purpose of managing liquidity risk.

2012

Less than
1 month or
on demand 1 – 3 months

3 months – 
1 year 1 – 5 years

More than
5 years

Total
contractual
undiscounted

cash flow

Total
carrying
amount

as at
31 December

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Non-derivatives:
Other payables* (723) (5) (428) (371) – (1,527) (1,527)
Loan payable (62) – – – – (62) (62)
Borrowings (2,022) (72) (215) (2,150) (2,373) (6,832) (6,412)
Convertible bonds – – – (28,537) – (28,537) (25,112)       

TOTAL (2,807) (77) (643) (31,058) (2,373) (36,958) (33,113)       
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(C) Liquidity risk (continued)

2011

Less than
1 month or
on demand 1 – 3 months

3 months – 
1 year 1-5 years

More than
5 years

Total
contractual

undiscounted
cash flow

Total
carrying
amount

as at
31 December

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Non-derivatives:
Other payables* (707) (4) (1,284) – – (1,995) (1,995)
Loan payable – – – (62) – (62) (59)
Borrowings (24) (72) (216) (2,154) (2,664) (5,130) (4,643)
Convertible bonds – – – (35,567) – (35,567) (26,573)       

TOTAL (731) (76) (1,500) (37,783) (2,664) (42,754) (33,270)       

* Excluded from other payables of US$1,527,000 (2011: US$1,995,000) are amounts of US$68,000 (2011: US$127,000) 

and US$414,000 (2011: US$414,000) representing provision for payments for long service and unconsumed leave, 

and provision for bonus deferred from prior year respectively, the settlement which will depend upon either the 

termination of services of the relevant staff and management discretion respectively, and therefore the liquidity terms 

cannot be reasonably ascertained.

The maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period, 
based on the remaining contractual maturities is as follows:

2012

Less than
1 month or
on demand 1 – 3 months

3 months – 
1 year 1 – 5 years

More than
5 years

Total
contractual
undiscounted

cash flow

Total
carrying
amount

as at
31 December

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Non-derivatives:
Other payables (629) – – – – (629) (629)
Borrowings – – – (1,002) – (1,002) (961)
Convertible bonds – – – (28,537) – (28,537) (25,112)       

TOTAL (629) – – (29,539) – (30,168) (26,702)       

Financial guarantees issued:
Maximum amount guaranteed (3,461) – – – – (3,461) –       
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(C) Liquidity risk (continued)

2011

Less than
1 month or
on demand 1 – 3 months

3 months – 
1 year 1 – 5 years

More than
5 years

Total
contractual

undiscounted
cash flow

Total
carrying
amount

as at
31 December

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Non-derivatives:
Other payables (646) – – – – (646) (646)
Borrowings – – – (1,002) – (1,002) (950)
Convertible bonds – – – (35,567) – (35,567) (26,573)       

TOTAL (646) – – (36,569) – (37,215) (28,169)       

Financial guarantees issued:
Maximum amount guaranteed (3,693) – – – – (3,693) –       
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(D) Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are:

(a) To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it continues to 
provide returns and benefits for stakeholders;

(b) To support the Group’s stability and growth;

(c) To provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the Group’s risk management 
capability; and

(d) To provide capital for the purpose of potential mergers and acquisitions.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to ensure optimal 
capital structure and equity holder returns, taking into consideration the future capital 
requirements of the Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected profitability, 
projected operating cash flows, projected capital expenditures and projected strategic 
investment opportunities. The Group currently does not adopt any formal dividend policy.

The Directors of the Company review the capital structure annually. As part of this review, the 
Directors assess the annual budget prepared by management of the Company and consider 
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. As disclosed in Note 3(a) 
to the financial statements, the Directors are of the opinion that, in the light of the measures 
taken to date, together with the expected results of other measures in progress, the additional 
financing by way of new shares issue or other means to raise fund and favourable brokerage and 
investment advisory income generated from new wholly owned subsidiary, Crosby Securities 
Limited, the Group will have sufficient working capital and financial resources to satisfy its future 
working capital and other financial requirements for the foreseeable future such that the Group 
is able to continue as a going concern.

The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements, except for four of 
its subsidiaries, namely Crosby Asset Management (Hong Kong) Limited, Crosby Wealth 
Management (Hong Kong) Limited which ceased its business in the provision of wealth 
management services on 28 September 2012, Shikumen Capital Management (HK) Limited 
and Softech Investment Management Company Limited. These subsidiaries met their relevant 
paid up share capital and liquid capital requirements as stipulated by respective regulators 
throughout the year.

For capital management purpose, the Directors regard the total equity presented in the face 
of statement of financial position as capital. The amount of capital deficiency attributable to 
owners of the Company as at 31 December 2012 was US$17,613,000 (2011: US$17,850,000).
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2012 are as follows:

Name

Place/
Country of
incorporation/
establishment

Principal
place of
operation

Issued/Paid-up
share capital/

registered
capital

Percentage of issued/
paid-up share capital
held by the Company

Principal
activities

2012 2011

Crosby Asset Management 
(Asia) Limited

Cayman Islands N/A 100,000 ordinary
shares at

US$0.001 each

100% 100% Investment 
holding

Crosby Asset Management 
(Holdings) Limited

Cayman Islands N/A 1 ordinary share
at US$1 each

100% 100% Investment 
holding

Crosby Asset Management 
(Hong Kong) Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong 9,997 ordinary
shares at

HK$1 each

100% 100% Provision of 
investment 
advisory 
and fund 
administration 
services

Crosby Capital (Holdings) 
Limited

British Virgin
Islands

N/A 1 ordinary share
at US$1 each

100% 100% Investment 
holding

Crosby Investments (BVI) 
Limited

British Virgin
Islands

N/A 1 ordinary share
at US$1 each

100% 100% Investment 
holding

Crosby Capital (Hong Kong) 
Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong 1,006 ordinary
shares at

HK$1 each

100% 100% Provision of 
corporate 
services

Crosby Securities Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 1,000 ordinary
shares at

HK$1 each

100% – Dormant *

Dragon Fund Inc. Cayman Islands N/A 2 ordinary shares
at US$1 each

100% 100% Investment 
holding

Shikumen Capital 
Management (HK) Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong 3,000,000
ordinary shares

at HK$1 each

100% 100% Provision of 
investment 
advisory 
and fund 
management 
services
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Name

Place/
Country of
incorporation/
establishment

Principal
place of
operation

Issued/Paid-up
share capital/

registered
capital

Percentage of issued/
paid-up share capital
held by the Company

Principal
activities

2012 2011

Shikumen Capital 
Management (Tianjin) 
Company Limited #

石庫門（天津）股權投資基金

管理有限公司

The People’s
Republic of
China

The People’s
Republic of
China

Registered
capital of

RMB5,000,000

100% 100% Provision of 
investment 
advisory 
and fund 
management 
services

Softech Investment 
Management Company 
Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong 503 ordinary
shares at

HK$10 each

100% 100% Provision of fund 
management 
services

techpacific.com Investments 
Limited

Cayman Islands N/A 2 ordinary shares
at US$1 each

100% 100% Investment 
holding       

* Subsequent to the reporting date, it commenced its brokerage and investment advisory business following the grant of 
license by the Securities and Future Commission.

# The statutory financial statements of the subsidiary is not audited by BDO Limited. The English translation of Chinese 
name of the PRC subsidiary, if any, is included for identification only and should not be regarded as their official English 
translation. This subsidiary is registered as a wholly foreign owned enterprise under the PRC Laws.

All of the above principal subsidiaries are limited liability companies and are indirectly held by 
the Company except for Crosby Asset Management (Holdings) Limited, Crosby Capital (Holdings) 
Limited, Crosby Investments (BVI) Limited, Crosby Securities Limited and Shikumen Capital 
Management (HK) Limited.

The Directors of the Company are of the opinion that a complete list of the particulars of all 
subsidiaries would be of excessive length and therefore the above list contains only the particulars of 
the principal subsidiaries which materially affect the results or the assets of the Group.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at the end of the year or at any time 
during the year.

40. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
On 11 March 2013, the directors of Crosby Wealth Management (Asia) Limited (“CWM Asia”) 
and Crosby Wealth Management (Hong Kong) Limited (“CWM HK”) resolved to recommend the 
voluntary liquidation of CWM Asia and CWM HK, respectively, to their shareholders. CWM Asia is 
indirectly owned as to 55.86% by the Company and CWM HK is a wholly owned operating subsidiary 
of CWM Asia. Therefore, both CWM Asia and CWM HK are subsidiaries of the Company. The 
proposed voluntary liquidation of CWM Asia and CWM HK shall be subject to the approval of the 
shareholders of CWM Asia controlling at least 75% of the voting rights of CWM Asia.

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
Particulars of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2012 are as follows: (continued)



Annual Report 2012 123

APPENDIX I

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as 
extracted from the published audited financial statements, is set out below:

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Financial results

Loss attributable to owners of 
the Company (4,900) (6,294) (5,858) (16,036) (61,791)     

Assets and liabilities

Total assets 22,093 25,696 13,657 21,107 41,771
Total liabilities (39,634) (43,125) (28,613) (31,604) (36,930)     

(Capital deficiency)/Total equity (17,541) (17,429) (14,956) (10,497) 4,841     
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Board of Directors
Executive Directors:
Johnny Chan Kok Chung
Jeffrey Lau Chun Hung
Ulric Leung Yuk Lun
Douglas Craham Morin

Non-Executive Director:
Robert John Richard Owen

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
David John Robinson Herratt
Joseph Tong Tze Kay
Daniel Yen Tzu Chen

Audit Committee
Joseph Tong Tze Kay
David John Robinson Herratt
Daniel Yen Tzu Chen

Remuneration Committee
Daniel Yen Tzu Chen
David John Robinson Herratt
Joseph Tong Tze Kay

Nomination Committee
Daniel Yen Tzu Chen
Jeffrey Lau Chun Hung
Joseph Tong Tze Kay

Company Secretary
Winnie Sin Wing Hung

Compliance Officer
Ulric Leung Yuk Lun

Chairman

Chairman

Chairman

Principal Bankers
The Hongkong and Shanghai

Banking Corporation Limited
Hang Seng Bank Limited
DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
The Bank of East Asia Limited

Auditor
BDO Limited

Solicitors
Simmons & Simmons
J.S. Gale & Co.

Registered Office
Cricket Square
Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

Share Registrars and Transfer Office
Computershare Hong Kong Investor 

Services Limited
46th Floor, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road Easet
Wanchai
Hong Kong

Stock Code
GEM 8088
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